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TESCO UNDERWRITING LIMITED

Strategic Report
The directors present their report, together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.
Activities
During the year Tesco Underwriting Limited ("the Company") continued its underwriting of personal lines insurance business (car and
home) distributed by Tesco Personal Finance plc.
Results
The results of the Company are contained in the accounts on pages 14 to 44. The profit before taxation during the year to 31 December
2019 was £28.4m (2018: £24.4m). Additional explanation is included in the Business Review later in this report.
Financial Position
At the end of the year total assets were £945.9m (2018 : £1,036.1m) with financial investments being £648.7m (2018: £685.0m). Financial
investments are fixed rate debt securities and a property fund. Cash and cash equivalents were £51.9m (2018: £86.3m), reinsurance assets
£177.3m (2018: £186.6m) and insurance and other receivables £49.7m (2018: £53.1m).
Total liabilities at the end of the year were £780.5m (2018 : £870.6m) with insurance contract provisions of £676.1m (2018: £759.2m) and
financial liabilities of £42.3m (2018: £58.0m).
Strategic Direction
The Company is an insurer authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA) and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority
(FCA) and the PRA. It was established to underwrite Tesco branded car and home insurance policies, introduced to it by Tesco Personal
Finance plc. The Company is owned by Ageas (UK) Limited and Tesco Personal Finance plc.
The overall role of the Company is to support the Tesco Personal Finance plc personal lines insurance strategy through innovative
underwriting and product initiatives, whilst driving financial returns for the two shareholders by maintaining strong underwriting, risk and
financial controls.
The vision for the Company is to be the "Insurer of choice for Tesco Customers".
The year end Solvency Capital Requirement (SCR) coverage has increased during the year to 160.0% (2018: 144.7%). The change in
coverage is primarily due to an increase in retained earnings and increase in unrealised gains in fair value of investments as well as no
proposed dividend included in the 2019 position (2018: £31.3m).
Business Review
The Board considers the key indicators that will communicate the financial performance and strength of the Company to its members are:
•
•
•
•

Gross premiums written
Profit/(loss) before taxation
Operating ratio
Return on capital after tax

The Board also uses a number of other key indicators to assess the performance of individual parts of the business, including details on the
number of policies underwritten and various performance ratios.

Gross premiums written

2019
£m

2018
£m

Change
%

310.0

342.1

(9.4)

Gross premiums written in 2019 were 9.4% lower than the 2018 level reflecting the impact of pricing conditions in the market. This has
reduced the number of policies underwritten by 6.4%. The Company continues to be a disciplined underwriter with a clear return on
capital target set by shareholders and pricing will reflect this. In the current market conditions this has resulted in a reduction in customers
and gross premium written.
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TESCO UNDERWRITING LIMITED

Strategic Report (continued)

Profit before taxation

2019
£m

2018
£m

28.4

24.4

Profit before taxation is the key performance measure for the Company which aims to deliver sustainable growth in profits over the
insurance cycle by risk selection at appropriate rates, rigorous expense control and delivery of superior customer service to its
policyholders.
The performance in the year was strong at £28.4m before taxation and reflected a stong improvement over 2018 result (£24.4m), primarily
as a result of the change in the personal injury (Ogden rate) from -0.75% to -0.25% enacted by legislation on 15 July 2019.
The Company intends to continue its policy of maintaining strong underwriting and pricing controls and will take appropriate action to
maintain profitability moving forward.

Operating ratio

2019
%

2018
%

Change
%

90.8

93.9

3.3

The operating ratio is considered as a measure of the Company’s overall efficiency. It is calculated as the total of incurred claims,
commissions, expenses and reinsurance less investment income, as a percentage of net earned premiums.
The operating ratio improved against 2018 by 3.3%.

Return on capital after tax

2019
%

2018
%

13.9

11.5

Return on capital after tax is a measure of the efficiency with which the Company uses its shareholders’ equity. This is measured by taking
profit after tax over average shareholders' equity adjusted for any dividends that have been paid.
The Company reported a profit before income taxes of £28.4m. The underlying performance of the motor portfolio showed large bodily
injury losses experienced in the current year being offset by positive prior year development from claims settlements. The change in the
Ogden discount rate from -0.75% to -0.25% announced on 15 July 2019 resulted in an increase of £7.4m profit before tax. Within the
home portfolio the current year result was impacted by escape of water losses from the adverse weather conditions in the early part of 2019.
Principal risks and uncertainties
The Company’s principal risks and uncertainties and the way that these risks are managed are detailed in note 2 to the financial statements.
Given the Company's business as a motor and home insurer the main risks it faces relate to insurance, market, credit, liquidity, operational
and capital management risks. The procedures to control these risks are embedded into decision making via the Company's risk
management framework and are expressed through the Company's risk appetite statements and its risk register which identifies the
individual risks faced in each area of the business and the controls in place to mitigate these. During 2019 the Management Risk
Committee's reports have been provided to the Board Risk Committee which focuses on consideration of the top risks including climate
change. Uncertainties relating to Brexit are described in the Directors' report.
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TESCO UNDERWRITING LIMITED

Strategic Report (continued)
Section 172 (1) Statement
The Tesco Underwriting (TU) directors have always been aware of, and attentive to, all their duties and responsibilities. This includes the
duty to promote the success of the company for the benefit of its stakeholders as a whole as set out under section 172 of the Companies Act
2006. The TU Board takes this into account when setting and embedding its culture and values in line with its vision to be the ‘Insurer of
choice for Tesco customers’. The TU Board recognise the long-term success of the Company is only possible through engagement with,
and having regard to, the interests of key stakeholders, which for TU includes customers, employees, shareholders, suppliers and the
community at large. The effective operation of the governance framework, formalised within the TU Governance Manual, facilitates TU
directors in the discharge of their duties, ensuring all stakeholders and impacts on the environment are considered in the decision making
of the TU Board and its Committees.
The role of the TU Board is to effectively manage TU’s business and exercise control over its business, maintaining a reputation for high
standards of business conduct. This is achieved by the TU Board setting the tone from the top, ensuring the direction and performance of
the business is aligned to shareholder objectives, and in doing so paying due regard to the interest of all its stakeholders. A range of
mechanisms have been established to support directors in the discharge of their duties and further detail has been incorporated within the
Stakeholder Engagement statements set out on pages 5-6 of this report. Furthermore, throughout 2020, the TU Board will continue to
review and challenge how TU can continue to improve engagement with its stakeholders.
Stakeholder Engagement Statements
Shareholders
Given that TU is jointly owned by Ageas (UK) Limited (Ageas UK) (50.1%) and Tesco Personal Finance plc (49.9%) the Company’s
purpose and strategy are aligned to those of its shareholders. The role of the Company is to support the Tesco Personal Finance plc (Tesco
Bank) personal lines insurance strategy through innovative underwriting and product initiatives, whilst driving financial returns for its two
shareholders by maintaining strong underwriting, risk and financial controls, it continues to work collaboratively with both of its
shareholders, whereby Tesco Bank provides the Company with IT and management services and Ageas UK provides some claims handling
and a range of ancillary services.
Ageas UK is represented on the TU Board by three Ageas UK Executives and one Non-Executive Director. Tesco Bank is represented on
the TU Board by two Tesco Bank Executives and one Non-Executive Director.
During 2019, the TU Board having considered the Company would have the appropriate resources to continue to meet debts as they
became due, resolved that an interim dividend of £31.3 million be declared, to be paid to Ageas UK and Tesco Bank. Further, the TU
Board agreed to repay £15.7m of the subordinated loans to Ageas UK and Tesco Bank.
With regards the 2020 outlook, the Board has considered the likely consequences of any decisions made in the long term and have had
regard to acting fairly between all stakeholders including all of the shareholders.
Customers and Suppliers
Customers are at the heart of the Company’s business and it is important to the Company to maintain a high standard of business conduct.
In 2019, customer interests have been considered regularly by the TU Board, and customer experience reports have been provided on a
quarterly basis together with focus sessions to support oversight. Reporting to the business and to the Board has been enhanced following
the introduction of the ‘voice of the customer’ programme, providing immediate feedback and giving new measures with positive results.
In TU, we strive through a customer centric approach to ensure we conclude claims quickly and fairly for our customers to deliver the best
possible outcomes. We maintain at all times a keen focus on treating customers fairly and ensuring we have a flexible approach to meet the
needs of a diverse customer base including specific consideration of the needs of vulnerable customers which has been a key area of focus
for the Board in 2019
A number of digital solutions have been progressed to enhance and simplify the end to end customer experience. Significant additional
investment into such initiatives have been agreed by the Board during 2019, not least in relation to the ongoing development of our digital
claims journey under the Customer Experience Programme. We have ensured suppliers who provide these services are able to do so
without detriment to our customers, employees, community and the environment and we have carried out robust oversight measures to
ensure this is always the case.These measures are governed by our Procurement and Supplier Management Framework which includes
detail of how we assess supplier performance and ensure their operating standards are robust. These assessments are conducted frequently
and reported quarterly to the Board Risk Committee.
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Strategic Report (continued)
Employees
The Company keeps employees up to date on strategy and performance through a variety of channels including formal leadership events,
employee briefings and the Staff Council. Regular meetings with the Staff Council have continued with senior management, facilitating the
escalation and cascade of key messages from and to the TU Executive Committee and the TU Board.
Employees are invited to provide feedback and to actively participate through continued use of engagement surveys. The key themes
emanating from the surveys are brought to the attention of the TU Board and resulting actions tracked. Based on employee feedback
discussed with the Board, a review of employee benefits, reward and flexible working was undertaken in the year, and TU is taking action
to ensure that all salaries are above the Rowntree Foundation Real Living Wage.

TU has established and promotes a culture where employees have the confidence and ability to raise their concerns. Directors and
managers have a responsibility to ensure that mechanisms are in place to encourage such concerns to be raised and any wrongdoing dealt
with. The whistleblowers' champion has been apportioned responsibility for the maintenance of the independence, autonomy and
effectiveness of TU whistleblowing policies and procedures, and a report to the TU Audit Committee in 2019 confirmed the systems and
controls in place were satisfactory. The effectiveness of these controls will continue to be monitored and reported going forward.
Regulator
The Company and the Board maintains an open and constructive dialogue with the PRA and FCA alongside the provision of required
reports, for example in relation to Solvency II and through regular supervisory meetings.
Diversity and Inclusion
The Company is committed to a culture which is inclusive, supports diversity and ensures all stakeholders are treated fairly. Recruitment,
promotion, career development, selection for training and any other aspects of employee management of all employees are free from
discrimination, including on the grounds of gender, ethnicity, disability, age, sexual orientation, marital status and other protected
characteristics. The TU Board has set the policies and standards within which the Company will operate, and the approach to diversity and
inclusion is monitored regularly by the Board. Given the focus, it was pleasing TU met its targets under the Women in Finance Charter
ahead of the 2020 deadline, with more women promoted to senior roles, notably within Finance and Actuarial roles and TU women
celebrated at the Women in Insurance Awards, with four colleagues shortlisted.
Community
TU has continued to be very active in the community within which it operates. In conjunction with Tesco Bank, TU supported Pride at a
national and regional level. In Reigate, TU also supported Dive In, the festival for diversity and inclusion in insurance, in collaboration
with other local insurance companies. Support has also been provided to Tesco Bank Junior Players, a community sports programme,
which has been operating since 2016 and provides primary school pupils in the Newcastle region with the opportunity to take part in
physical activity.
The Company and the Board supports a “Charity of the Year” as nominated by the employees, which for 2019 was The People’s Kitchen
in Newcastle and The Children’s Trust, a national charity, in Reigate.
Environment
In its consultation paper, PRA CP23/18 on ‘enhancing approaches to managing the financial risks from climate change’, the PRA proposed
that firms embed the consideration of the financial risks from climate change into their governance framework. The Company has
developed an action plan in response, which was discussed at the November 2019 Board Risk Committee. The Board has also allocated
SMF responsibility for managing Climate Change financial risks to its Finance Director . Monitoring of climate change risks and the action
plan is undertaken within existing governance arrangements and will be discussed at the Board Risk Committee with escalation as required
to the full Board.
The action plan focuses on ensuring that the Board understands and assesses the financial risks to policyholders from climate change and
oversee these risks within the firm’s overall business strategy. The work includes an horizon scanning process that focusses on assessing
exposure to physical risks in the context of insurance risk controls and risk appetite as well as to transition risks. Initial conclusions are that
physical risks are the most significant in the shorter term, noting that these are substantially mitigated by the Company’s reinsurance
programme.
Transition Risks are assessed as being less significant due to the Company’s investment portfolio materially comprising a diversified mix
of high-grade corporate bonds. During 2020, it is planned that additional investment guidelines will be introduced in order to manage the
transition of the investment portfolio to a lower overall carbon footprint, thereby mitigating the risk to value from over-exposure to certain
sectors.
The Board is also monitoring the longer-term transition risks arising from the changing Climate relating to the personal lines insurance
market.
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Strategic Report (continued)
Risks associated with the outbreak of the COVID19 pandemic “coronavirus”
In the early part of 2020 the outbreak of the coronavirus in China quickly gained worldwide attention. On 11th March 2020 the World
Health Organisation declared a global pandemic for this disease.
In February 2020 TU convened a COVID-19 Core Response team from across the business which reports into the TU Executive
Committee twice weekly. The situation has developed rapidly and at the time of writing TU has implemented Crisis Management with
daily calls and strong focus through the Crisis Management Team. Following Boris Johnson’s announcement on 23rd March, TU has
closed its Reigate office whilst maintaining attendance of a proportion of the staff in the Claim operation in Newcastle in order to maintain
claims handling which cannot be undertaken remotely. However, staffing is commensurate with the reduced volumes of calls being
received which at this point are about 60% less than plan.
At the same time a series of update communications have commenced to staff across TU. The safety and wellbeing of TU staff is the
primary focus alongside ensuring that business systems and processes can continue to serve customers through this period.
Strong co-operation continues between TU, TB and Ageas with TU liaison on the TB and Ageas Crisis Management teams.
The key areas of focus for the TU Executive team are:
▪ Understanding the dynamic changing advice from the UK Government and Public Health England;
▪ The alignment to decisions and approach to responses and communications across Tesco Bank and Ageas UK;
▪ The issue of regular communications to colleagues across the business with advice and guidance as the situation develops;
▪ The assessment of TU’s operational resilience and specifically the operational response required to a series of scenarios; and
▪ The assessment of the operational resilience of TU’s suppliers and partners in the provision of services and support to customers. In
relation to this latter point many repairers and suppliers are shutting their operations as a response to government announcements.
As the situation develops TU will continue to monitor the position and take appropriate action through its Crisis Management Team taking
contingency actions to protect colleagues whilst continuing to serve customers.
The negative financial impacts of the coronavirus outbreak on the robustness of TU’s financial position are currently assessed as limited,
but this will be kept under review as the situation develops. A key area of focus is the investment portfolio (£648.7m at December 2019).
TU primarily invests in rated Corporate Bonds which typically rise in value during periods of economic uncertainty and in the period to
late March 2020 although the value of the portfolio has fluctuated, unrealised losses have been limited in relation to the size of the
portfolio. Wider impacts such as a drop in loss ratios, as well as policy volumes are being assessed as part of a broader financial
assessment.
The directors consider that the financial impact of the COVID-19 virus on the UK economy and the company cannot currently be
estimated with any degree of certainty. In assessing the potential impact on the company, the directors have prepared various financial
projections of impacts including reduced claims costs, investment value variability, operating expenses and premium income on the basis
of a UK shutdown lasting around 3 months with a return to normal trading over the following 3 to 6 months and taking account of
anticipated management actions and UK government support. On the basis of these projections, the directors have concluded that it is
appropriate to prepare the accounts on a going concern basis
This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 6 April 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

C Marsh
Secretary
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TESCO UNDERWRITING LIMITED
Directors' Report
Position as at 31 December 2019
Shareholders’ equity

The retained profit within shareholders’ equity for the year was £23.0m (2018 :£19.8m). There was an increase in the market value of
investments compared to their carrying value that increased the fair value reserve after tax by £8.2m (2018: decrease 11.1m). In 2019, share
capital was reduced by £16.0m, offset by a movement in retained earnings (2018: share capital reduction of £22.0m). Taking into account
dividend payments of £31.3m made in the year (2018: £20.7m), shareholders’ equity decreased by £0.1m to £165.4m (2018 : £165.5m).
Assets
At the end of the year total assets were £945.9m (2018: £1,036.1m) with financial investments being £648.7m (2018: £685.0m). Financial
investments were fixed rate debt securities and a property fund. Cash and cash equivalents were £51.9m (2018: £86.3m), reinsurance assets
£177.3m (2018: £186.6m) and insurance and other receivables £49.8m (2018: £53.1m).
Liabilities
Total liabilities at the end of the year were £780.5m (2018 : £870.6m) with insurance contract provisions of £676.1m (2018: £759.2m) and
financial liabilities of £42.3m (2018: £58.0m).
Liquidity & Risk
Most of the Company's financial assets are liquid and can be converted to cash in a normal market at short notice. The Company's principal
risks and uncertainties are shown in the Strategic Report on page 4.
Solvency
At 31 December 2019 the Company had unaudited Solvency II own funds of £189.7m (2018: £185.8m) compared to a Partial Internal
Model (PIM) SCR of £118.5m (2018: £128.4m) and the coverage ratio was 160% (2018: 144.7%). The Company made a dividend
payment of £31.3m and a repayment of subordinated loan of £15.7m in the year. Share Capital was reduced by £16.0m in the year.
Future developments, principle risks, uncertainties and regulatory changes are considered and described within the strategic report.
Results and dividends
A profit after taxation of £23.0m (2018 : £19.8m) was recorded for 2019. A dividend of £31.3m was paid in the period (2018: £20.7m).
Disclosure of information to auditor
The Members of the Board are shown on page 2. The directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors’ Report confirm
that, so far as they are each aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and each director has
taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information. During 2019 the audit for the year ended 31 December 2018 was reviewed by the
AQR team of the FRC. The results of this review were reported to the Audit Committee and identified no substantial issues. Mazars LLP
made limited changes to their audit approach to reflect the findings of the review.
Creditor payment policy
The Company agrees terms and conditions under which business transactions with suppliers are conducted. It is the Company’s policy
that payments to suppliers are made in accordance with these terms, provided that the supplier is also complying with all relevant terms
and conditions.
Employees
The average number of persons employed in the United Kingdom by the Company during the period was 367 (2018: 380). The full time
equivalent number of employees adjusted for part time staff was 348 (2018: 366). There was a small decrease in staff numbers during the
year with 365 at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: 366). The salary costs for 2019 were £17.2m (2018: £15.8m). An analysis of staff
numbers is shown in note 25.
Brexit
The Company has undertaken an assessment of the impact of the UK leaving the EU. Given that the Company operates exclusively in the
UK market it has concluded that the risks for the business (for example in relation to claims costs, a wider economic downturn and
investment returns) are akin to those typical of its ongoing operations and, taken overall, are assessed to be limited and manageable within
the context of its existing plans, with minimal additional considerations needing to be taken before the end of the implementation period
on 31 December 2020.
Climate Change
Uncertainties relating to climate change are included within the Section 172 report.
Coronavirus (Covid-19)
Coronavirus (Covid-19) has been disclosed as a non-adjusting subsequent event in Note 29, and uncertainities relating to coronavirus
(Covid-19) are included within the Section 172 report.
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Directors' Report (continued)
Employee involvement
The Company keeps employees up to date on strategy and performance through a variety of channels which includes formal leadership
events and regular employee briefings by senior managers. Employees are invited to provide feedback and to actively participate through
continued use of engagement surveys, and the Staff Council holds regular discussions with senior management at an organisational and site
level. There are a range of technology based communications tools which give employees the opportunity to engage directly with
colleagues and managers, creating a two way dialogue and sharing of views and ideas in a transparent and immediate manner.
As part of the wider engagement approach we support various charities, as nominated by our employees. We also extend our activities in
our industry and local education communities through engagement with industry bodies at a local level and our continued focus on career
development and apprenticeships.
Diversity and Inclusion
The Company is committed to a culture which is inclusive and supports diversity. Recruitment, promotion, career development, selection
for training and any other aspects of employee management of all employees are free from discrimination, including on the grounds of
gender, ethnicity, disability, age, sexual orientation, marital status and other protected characteristics. The Board have set the policies and
standards within which the Company will operate, and our approach to diversity and inclusion is monitored regularly by the Board. The
Board places a high emphasis on ensuring the development of diversity across the business and has signed up to the HM Treasury's
Women in Finance Charter, and supports various internal initiatives such as the Women in Insurance Programme, and our Diversity and
Inclusion Policy, TUEveryone.
Charitable donations
Charitable donations in the period amounted to £2,910 (2018: £2,268).

This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 6 April 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

C Marsh
Secretary
Registered Address
Ageas House
Hampshire Corporate Park
Templars Way
Eastleigh
Hampshire
SO53 3YA
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Statement of Directors' Responsibilities in respect of the Strategic
Report, the Annual Report, and the Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law and
regulations.
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law they have elected to prepare the
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRSs as adopted
by the EU) and applicable law.
Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Company and of its profit or loss for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required
to:
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

•

make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant and reliable;

•

state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU;

•

assess the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and

•

use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's transactions
and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that its financial
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Company and to prevent and detect fraud
and other irregularities.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of
Tesco Underwriting Limited
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Tesco Underwriting Limited (the ‘company’) for the year ended 31 December 2019 which comprise the Statement
of comprehensive income, the Statement of financial position, the Statement of changes in equity, and Statement of cash flows and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable
law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union.
In our opinion, the financial statements:
•
give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2019 and of its profit for the year then ended;
•
•

have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the
company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard
as applied to public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where:
• the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or
• the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the company’s
ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are
authorised for issue.
Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period
and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest
effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were
communicated to those charge with governance during our audit through our Audit Strategy Memorandum and Audit Completion Report and addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We summarise below the key audit matters in forming our audit opinion above, together with an overview of the principal audit procedures performed to
address each matter and, where relevant, key observations arising from those procedures.
This matter, together with our findings, were communicated to those charged with governance through our Audit Completion Report.
Area of focus
How our audit addressed the area of focus
Valuation of insurance contract liabilities
Our audit procedures included:
Meeting with senior management involved in the reserving process to discuss
•
the reserving methodology, management controls on the relevant models,
As disclosed within “Accounting estimates and judgements” in
changes in assumptions from the previous year-end, and questions arising
the financial statements, the valuation of the provisions for the
from review of internal and external reserving reports;
settlement of future claims, involves a significant degree of
judgement. The provision for claims outstanding and loss
adjustment expenses at 31 December 2019 was £522.7m (see
Note 15 of the financial statements).
The assessment is underpinned by a calculations of the required
provision on a best estimate basis, using a range of actuarial
techniques.
Underlying these methods are a number of assumptions (both
explicit and implicit) relating to the expected settlement amounts
and the settlement patterns of claims.

•

Assessing and documenting the flow of data used in the reserving process;

•

Assessing the design and implementation of controls around the process in
place to determine the insurance contract liabilities;
Evaluating the methodology and assumptions selected by management for
reserving;

•
•

Auditing the impact of the change in the Ogden discount rate from -0.75% to
the -0.25% rate enacted by legislation on 15 July 2019;

•
•

Challenging actuarial assumptions used; and,
Performing re-projections on selected classes of business using various
actuarial methods and comparing management’s reserves to our range of
reasonable best estimates. Classes selected were Motor Accidental Damage,
Motor Third Party Property Damage, Motor Bodily Injury Capped and
Motor Bodily Injury XS.

Disclosure
We reviewed the disclosures in the financial statementsand checked for compliance with
the relevant accounting standards.
Observations
We found the technical provisions established by the company acceptable.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of
Tesco Underwriting Limited (Continued)
Area of focus

How our audit addressed the area of focus

Impact of the outbreak of COVID-19 on the financial
statements
Our audit procedures included:
Since the balance sheet date there has been a global pandemic
from the outbreak of coronavirus ‘COVID-19’. The potential We assessed the directors’ conclusion that the matter be treated as a non-adjusting post
impact of COVID-19 became significant in March 2020 and is balance sheet event and that adopting the going concern basis for preparation of the
causing widespread disruption to normal patterns of business financial statements is appropriate. We considered:
activity across the world, including the UK
•
The timing of the development of the outbreak across the world and in the
UK; and,
The directors’ consideration of the impact on the financial
•
How the financial statements and business operations of the Company
statements is disclosed in the strategic report and the preparation
might be impacted by the disruption.
of the financial statements on a going concern basis (significant
accounting policies (b) of the financial statements). Whilst the
situation is still evolving, based on the information available at In forming our conclusions over going concern, we evaluated how the directors’ going
this point in time, the directors have assessed the impact of concern assessment considered the impacts arising from COVID-19 as follows:
COVID-19 on the business and have concluded that adopting the
going concern basis of preparation is appropriate.
•
We held discussions with senior management involved in the assessment of
The directors have concluded that COVID-19 is a non-adjusting
post balance sheet event (Note 29).

the impact of COVID-19, and other matters arising from ongoing updates
from the market and regulators;
•
We reviewed the approved directors’ going concern assessment including
COVID-19 implications. We made enquiries of directors to understand the
period of assessment, the scenarios taken into account and the implication
of those scenarios on the Company’s projected financial performance;
•
•

•
•

We assessed the governance process around the COVID-19 projections
prepared by the directors;
We evaluated the key assumptions underpinning the scenarios considered
by the directors, and where practicable whether they were consistent with
the most recent management information;
We assessed the potential impact of COVID-19 on the Company’s solvency
position;
We considered whether the directors’ conclusion that adequate solvency
headroom remained in modelled scenarios was reasonable; and,

•
We evaluated the adequacy and appropriateness of the directors’ disclosure
in respect of COVID-19 implications, in particular disclosures within the
post balance sheet events and basis of preparation notes.

Observations
Based on the work performed, we are satisfied that the matter has been appropriately
reflected in the financial statements
Our conclusions on going concern are set out under ‘conclusions relating to going concern’
above.

Our application of materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These,
together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit
procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually
and on the financial statements as a whole.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:
Our overall materiality was £3.1m.
Overall materiality
How we determined it

1% of gross written premiums.

Rationale for benchmark applied

In determining our materiality, we considered financial metrics which we believed to be
relevant, and concluded that gross written premium was the most relevant benchmark. We
believe that the benchmark of gross written premiums is a fair reflection of revenue from
the company’s operations.

Performance materiality

Performance materiality is set to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that
the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements in the financial statements
exceeds materiality for the financial statements as a whole. Performance materiality of
£2.3m was applied in the audit.

Reporting threshold

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements
identified during our audit above £93k as well as misstatements below that amount that, in
our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of
Tesco Underwriting Limited (Continued)
An overview of the scope of our audit including extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities
including fraud
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risk of material misstatement in the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, and then designed and performed audit procedures responsive to those risks. In particular, we looked at
where the directors made subjective judgements such as making assumptions on significant accounting estimates, including the valuation
of the provisions for the settlement of future claims.
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed sufficient work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements as a
whole. We used the outputs of a risk assessment, our understanding of the company’s accounting processes and controls and its
environment and considered qualitative factors in order to ensure that we obtained sufficient coverage across all financial statement line
items.
Our audit procedures were designed to respond to those identified risks, including non-compliance with laws and regulations
(irregularities) and fraud that are material to the financial statements.
In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect to irregularities including non-compliance with laws and regulations,
our procedures included but were not limited to:
• at planning stage, we gained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the company, the insurance sector in
which it operates and considered the risk of acts by the company which were contrary to the applicable laws and regulations;
• we discussed with the directors the policies and procedures in place regarding compliance with laws and regulations;
• we discussed the identified laws and regulations amongst the engagement team , and we remained alert to any indications of noncompliance; and
• during the audit, we focused on areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the financial
statements from our general commercial and sector experience and through discussions with the directors (as required by auditing
standards), from inspection of the company’s regulatory and legal correspondence and review of minutes of directors’ meetings in the year.
We identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations related to breaches of regulatory requirements of the
Prudential Regulatory Authority and the Financial Conduct Authority. We also considered those other laws and regulations that have a
direct impact on the preparation of financial statements, such as the Companies Act 2006.
Our procedures in relation to fraud included but were not limited to:
• inquiries of management whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud and review of minutes of directors’
meetings;
• gaining an understanding of the internal controls established to mitigate risk related to fraud;
• discussion amongst the engagement team regarding risk of fraud such as opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of financial
statements, and determined that the principal risks were related to posting manual journal entries to manipulate financial performance,
management bias through judgements and assumptions in significant accounting estimates, in particular in relation to the provisions for the
settlement of future claims, and significant one-off or unusual transactions;
• obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the
financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by irregularities including fraud or error; and
• addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls by performing journal entry testing.
The primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of irregularities including fraud rests with both those charge with governance
and management. As with any audit, there remained a risk of non-detection of irregularities, as these may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal controls.
As a result of our procedures, we did not identify any “Key audit matters” relating to irregularities, including fraud. The risks of material
misstatement that had the greatest effect on our audit, including the allocation of our resources and effort, are discussed under “Key audit
matters” within this report.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Annual report and
financial statements other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not
cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to
determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of
Tesco Underwriting Limited (Continued)
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
• the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
• the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified
material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if,
in our opinion:
• adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by
us; or
• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
Responsibilities of Directors
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 10, the directors are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website
at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
Other matters which we are required to address
Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by the Board of Directors on 16 May 2018 to audit the financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2018 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is 2
years, covering the year ended 31 December 2019.
Non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided to the company and we remain independent of the
company in conducting our audit.
Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the audit committee.
Use of the audit report
This report is made solely to the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the company and the company’s members as a body for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Steve Liddell (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of Mazars LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
Tower Bridge House.
St Katharine’s Way,
London E1W 1DD
6 April 2020
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TESCO UNDERWRITING LIMITED
Registered number 6967289

Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Note

Gross premiums written
Change in the gross provision for unearned premiums

3
3

Gross insurance premium revenue
Written premiums ceded to reinsurers
Reinsurers' share of change in the provision for unearned premiums

3
3

Net insurance premium revenue
Investment income
Other operating income

4
5

Net income
Claims and benefits incurred
Reinsurers' share of claims and benefits incurred

6

Net policyholder claims and benefits incurred
Net acquisition costs
Administration costs

7
8

Operating profit
Finance costs

9

Profit before income tax
Income tax

10

Profit for the year

2019
£m

2018
£m

310.0
18.7

342.1
17.3

328.7

359.4

(67.4)
(2.6)

(70.3)
21.6

258.7

310.7

14.5
4.5

15.1
5.4

277.7

331.2

(209.6)
19.9

(273.6)
46.3

(189.7)

(227.3)

(29.8)
(27.7)

(51.4)
(25.4)

30.5

27.1

(2.1)

(2.7)

28.4

24.4

(5.4)

(4.6)

23.0

19.8

9.8
(1.7)

(13.7)
2.6

8.2

(11.1)

31.1

8.7

Other comprehensive income
Items which will be reclassified to profit or loss
Gain/(loss) on available-for-sale financial assets
Income tax on other comprehensive income

16
10

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax

Total comprehensive income
The notes on pages 25 to 46 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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TESCO UNDERWRITING LIMITED
Registered number 6967289

Statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2019
Note

Assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred acquisition costs
Reinsurance assets
Financial investments
Insurance and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
£m
£m

11
12
13
15
16
17
18

7.1
0.7
10.4
177.3
648.7
49.8
51.9

5.6
0.2
19.3
186.6
685.0
53.1
86.3

945.9

1,036.1

24

129.7
23.9
11.8
165.4

145.7
16.2
3.6
165.5

15
19

676.1
42.3
1.6
38.1
1.2
2.4
18.8
780.5

759.2
58.0
1.7
30.7
0.5
0.8
19.8
870.6

945.9

1,036.1

Total assets
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital
Retained earnings
Fair value reserve
Total shareholders’ equity
Liabilities
Insurance contract provisions
Financial liabilities - loans and borrowings
Reinsurance payables
Funds withheld
Current tax liability
Deferred tax liability
Insurance payables, other payables and deferred income
Total liabilities

22
20
14
21

Total equity and liabilities
The notes on pages 25 to 46 form an integral part of these financial statements.

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 6 April 2020 and were signed on its behalf by:

S Kingshott
Director

C Anthony
Director
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TESCO UNDERWRITING LIMITED
Registered number 6967289

Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2019
Share
capital
£m

Retained
earnings
£m

Fair value
reserve
£m

Total

145.7

16.2

3.6

165.5

Total comprehensive income for the period
Profit for the year

-

23.0

-

23.0

Fair value gains relating to available-for-sale
financial assets

-

-

8.2

8.2

Total comprehensive income for the period

-

23.0

8.2

31.2

(16.0)

16.0

-

-

-

(31.3)

-

(31.3)

Transactions with owners of the Company

(16.0)

(15.3)

-

(31.3)

Balance at 31 December 2019

129.7

23.9

11.8

165.4

Share
capital
£m

Retained
earnings
£m

Fair value
reserve
£m

Total

167.7

(4.9)

14.7

177.5

Total comprehensive income for the period
Profit for the year

-

19.8

-

19.8

Fair value losses relating to available-for-sale

-

-

(11.1)

(11.1)

Total comprehensive income for the period

-

19.8

(11.1)

8.7

(22.0)

22.0

-

-

-

(20.7)

-

(20.7)

Transactions with owners of the Company

(22.0)

1.3

-

(20.7)

Balance at 31 December 2018

145.7

16.2

3.6

165.5

Balance at 1 January 2019

Transactions with owners of the Company
Redemption of share capital
Dividend Payments

£m

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Balance at 1 January 2018

Transactions with owners of the Company
Redemption of share capital
Dividend Payments

£m

The fair value reserve includes the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale investments, net of tax, until the investment
is derecognised.
The notes on pages 25 to 46 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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TESCO UNDERWRITING LIMITED
Registered number 6967289

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Investment income
Finance costs
Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of deferred acquisition costs
Financial investments non cash movements
Operating profit before working capital changes
(Increase)/decrease in reinsurance assets
(Increase)/decrease in insurance and other receivables
other payables and deferred income
Increase in reinsurance payables
Cash flows used in operations
Interest received
Interest paid
Tax (paid)/received
Net cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of financial investments
Sale of financial investments
Purchase of intangible assets
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Subordinated loan repayment
Dividend paid
Net cash used in financing activities

2019
£m

2018
£m

28.4

24.4

(13.9)
2.1
1.9
0.3
8.9
2.1
29.8
9.3
3.2
(84.1)
7.4
(34.4)
13.9
(2.2)
(4.7)
(27.4)

(14.5)
2.7
2.3
9.7
2.6
27.2
(51.9)
(6.6)
(33.2)
30.6
(33.9)
14.5
(2.7)
(2.1)
(24.2)

16
16
11
12

(96.5)
140.0
(3.4)
0.1
40.2

(50.0)
120.1
(2.6)
(0.2)
67.3

19

(15.7)
(31.3)
(47.0)

(10.3)
(20.7)
(31.0)

(34.3)
86.3
51.9

12.1
74.2
86.3

51.9

86.3

4
9
11
12
7
16
15
17
15,21
22
4
9

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December
Cash available to the Company

18

The notes on pages 25 to 46 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Significant accounting policies
Tesco Underwriting Limited ("the Company") is a private company, limited by shares, domiciled and incorporated in England and Wales.
The Company is primarily involved in personal lines insurance.
The Company is owned by Ageas (UK) Limited and Tesco Personal Finance plc.
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 2 April 2020.
(a) Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as adopted by
the European Union (EU) and in accordance with the provision of the Companies Act 2006.
The Company has not applied IFRS 8 Operating Segments. In accordance with IFRS 8, the Company is not required to present
segmental information as the equity of the Company is not publicly traded.
(b) Basis of preparation
The Company has prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis. In considering the appropriateness of this assumption
the Board has reviewed the Company's projections for the next twelve months from the date of this report and beyond, including cash
flow forecasts and regulatory capital surpluses. The director's considerations for the impacts of COVID-19 on the Company, and their
conclusion that it is appropriate to prepare the accounts on a going concern basis and to disclose COVID-19 as a non-adjusting
subsequent event, is disclosed in Note 29 Subsequent events. Consequently, the directors believe that the Company has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. SCR coverage at the end of 2019 is 160.0%.
The Company presents its statement of financial position in order of liquidity in accordance with IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. For each asset and liability line item in the statement of financial position that combines amounts expected to be
recovered or settled within twelve months, or more than twelve months after the statement of financial position date, a classification at
the statement of financial position date is included within the notes. The disclosure in the notes for these classifications are
distinguished as follows:
•
•

amounts expected to be recovered in less than one year are referred to as current;
amounts expected to be recovered in more than one year are referred to as non-current.

All new standards and interpretations released by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) have been considered.
New and amended standards and interpretations
The Company has applied IFRS 16 from 1 January 2019 using the modified retrospective approach and therefore the comparative
information has not been restated and continues to be reported under IAS17. Refer Note 12 'Property, Plant and Equipment' for the
new disclosures under IFRS 16.
Standards issued but not yet effective

IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. However, the amendments to IFRS 4 'Applying IFRS 9
Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts' permits entities which meet certain requirements to defer the implementation
of IFRS 9 until the effective date of IFRS 17. On 17 March 2020, it was agreed by the IASB to extend the effective date of IFRS 17 to
1 January 2023, at the same time the fixed expiry date for the optional temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 granted to insurers,
was also deferred by one year to 2023. The IASB is expected to issue the amendments in the second quarter of 2020.
The Company is eligible for the temporary exemption and has opted to defer the implementation of IFRS 9. The eligibility conclusion
is based on an analysis of the percentage of the total carrying amount of liabilities connected with insurance activities relative to the
total carrying amount of all liabilities, which indicates the Company's activities are predominantly connected with insurance.
Consequently, the Company has opted to defer the implementation of IFRS 9 until the effective date of the new insurance contracts
standard.
In the context of the deferral of the implementation of IFRS 9, additional disclosures relating to the SPPI test and to the credit quality
of financial instruments that pass the SPPI test are required during the deferral period, commencing 1 January 2018. Notes 2(iii) and 16
refer to these SPPI tests.
The following is a list of standards that are in issue and relevant to the Company but are not effective in 2019, and have not yet been
adopted in the EU, together with the effective date of application to the Company:
IFRS 17 : Insurance Contracts (effective 1 January 2023).
IFRS 17 issued in 2017 by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB), will represent the most significant change to
European insurance accounting in 20 years. On 17 March 2020, it was agreed by the IASB to extend the effective date of IFRS 17 to 1
January 2023, at the same time the fixed expiry date for the optional temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 granted to insurers,
was also deferred by one year to 2023. Although early application of IFRS 17 is permitted the Company are planning to adopt in line
with the proposed effective date. The Company is assessing the implications of IFRS 17 on its financial statements.
Amendments to IAS1 and IAS 8: Definition of Material
In October 2018, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes
in Accounting Estimates and Errors to align the definition of 'material' across the standards and to clarify certain aspects of the
definition. The new definition, effective 1 January 2020, states that, 'Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it
could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity.' The amendments to the definition of
material is not expected to have a significant impact on the company's financial statements.

(i)

Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except that financial instruments classified as available-forsale and are stated at their fair value and also the property investment recognised as fair value though the profit and loss account.
(ii) Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in millions of Pounds Sterling, which is the Company's functional currency. All financial
information presented in Pounds Sterling has been rounded to one decimal place.
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Significant accounting policies
(b) Basis of preparation (continued)
(iii) Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Restatements to accounting estimates are recognised in
the year in which the estimate is restated if the revision affects only that year, or in the year of the revision and future years if the
revision affects both current and future years.
Judgements made by the directors in the application of IFRSs that have a significant effect on the financial statements, and estimates
with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year, are discussed in notes 1 and 2.
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to the period presented in these financial statements.
(c) Classification of insurance contracts
Contracts under which the Company accepts significant insurance risk from another party (the policyholder) by agreeing to
compensate the policyholder or other beneficiary if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely affects the
policyholder or other beneficiary are classified as insurance contracts. These contracts remain insurance contracts until all rights and
obligations are extinguished or expire. Insurance contracts may also transfer some financial risk.
(d) Recognition and measurement of revenue
Premiums
Gross written premiums comprise the premiums on contracts entered into during the year, irrespective of whether they relate in whole
or in part to a later accounting period. Premiums are disclosed gross of commission payable to intermediaries and exclude taxes and
levies based on premiums. An estimate is made at the statement of financial position date to recognise retrospective adjustments to
premiums or commissions. The earned portion of premiums received, is recognised as revenue. Premiums are earned from the date of
attachment of risk, over the indemnity period, based on the pattern of risks underwritten. Outward reinsurance premiums are
recognised as a deduction from net insurance revenue in accordance with the contractual arrangements with reinsurers.
(e) Insurance contracts and reinsurance assets
Claims
Claims incurred consist of claims and claims handling expenses paid during the financial year, together with the movement in the
provision for outstanding claims.
The provision for outstanding claims represents the Company’s estimate of the ultimate cost of settling all claims incurred but unpaid
at the statement of financial position date whether reported or not, and related internal and external claims handling expenses. Claims
outstanding are assessed by reviewing individual claims data and making an allowance for claims incurred but not yet reported,
adjusted for the effect of both internal and external foreseeable events, such as changes in claims handling procedures, inflation,
judicial trends, legislative changes and past experience and trends. Reinsurance and other recoveries are assessed in a manner similar
to the claims outstanding, and presented separately as assets.
Whilst the directors consider that the gross provisions for claims and the related reinsurance recoveries are fairly stated on the basis of
the information currently available to them, the ultimate liability will vary as a result of subsequent information and events and may
result in significant adjustments to the amounts provided. Adjustments to the amounts of claims provisions established in prior years
will be reflected in the financial statements for the period in which the adjustments are made, and disclosed separately if material. The
methods used, and the estimates made, are reviewed and challenged regularly and presented to the Board and Audit and Board Risk
Committees.
Liability adequacy test (Unexpired risk provision)
If required a provision is made for unexpired risks arising from business where the expected value of claims and expenses attributable
to the unexpired periods of policies in force at the statement of financial position date exceeds the unearned premiums provision in
relation to such policies after the deduction of any deferred acquisition costs. The provision for unexpired risks is calculated
separately by reference to classes of business which are managed together, after taking into account the relevant investment return.
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Significant accounting policies
(e) Insurance contracts and reinsurance assets (continued)
Reinsurance
The Company cedes reinsurance in the normal course of business for the purpose of limiting its net loss potential through the
diversification of its risks. Reinsurance arrangements do not relieve the Company from its direct obligations to its policyholders.
Premiums ceded and benefits reimbursed are presented in the statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position
on a gross basis.
Only contracts that give rise to a significant transfer of insurance risk are accounted for as reinsurance contracts. Amounts recoverable
under such contracts are recognised in the same year as the related claim. Contracts that do not transfer significant insurance risk (i.e.
financial reinsurance), are accounted for as financial instruments.
Reinsurance assets include balances due from reinsurance companies for reinsurance claims. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are
estimated in a manner consistent with the outstanding claims provision or settled claims associated with the reinsured policy.
Amounts recoverable under reinsurance contracts are assessed for impairment at each statement of financial position date. Such assets
are deemed impaired if there is objective evidence, as a result of an event that occurred after its initial recognition, that the Company
may not recover all amounts due and that the event has a reliable measurable impact on the amounts that the Company will receive
from the reinsurer.
Unearned premium provision
The provision for unearned premiums comprises the proportion of gross premiums written which is estimated to be earned in the
following or subsequent financial years, computed separately for each insurance contract using the daily pro rata method, adjusted if
necessary to reflect any variation in the incidence of risk during the period covered by the contract.
Deferred acquisition costs
Commission payable to agents and other acquisition costs, which are incurred for acquiring new and renewal insurance business that is
primarily related to the production of that business, are deferred. Any balances not considered recoverable are written off.
Such deferred acquisition costs are finite and are amortised by reference to the basis on which the related premiums are earned which
is over a one year period.
Other assessments and levies

The Company is obligated to pay various guarantee fund levies or other insurance industry related assessments. MIB levy costs are
now recognised in full at the end of each year to cover the payment that will be required in the following year. FCA and Flood Re
levies are billed on 1 April and the expense on these is recognised in full because the full year's liability is due on this date.
(f) Investment income

Investment income comprises interest income and net realised gains from financial investments earned in the period. Interest income
is recognised as it accrues in the income statement, using the effective interest method. `
(g) Expenses
Finance costs
Finance costs comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest rate method and are expensed in the
statement of comprehensive income in the period to which they relate.
(h) Employee benefits
Defined contribution plan
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which a company pays fixed contributions into a separate entity
and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension
plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in the statement of comprehensive income when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.
Wages, salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave are recognised, and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled.
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(i) Income tax
Income tax expense in the statement of comprehensive income for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in
which case the related income tax is also recognised in equity.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable profit for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the
statement of financial position date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.
Deferred tax is provided in full, using the statement of financial position liability method, providing for temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes, and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The
following temporary difference is not provided for: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the
asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that the related tax benefit will be realised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.
(j) Property, plant and equipment
(i) Owned assets
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost (or deemed cost) less accumulated depreciation (see below) and impairment
losses (see accounting policy (o)). Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Purchased
software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of
property, plant and equipment.
(ii) Right of use assets
Right of Use Assets are measured at cost , which is made up of the initial measurement of lease liability, any costs to dismantle and
remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any payments made in advance of the lease commencement date. A lease liability is also
measured at the lease commencement date at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available or the Company's incremental borrowing rate.
(ii) Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part
of an item of property, plant and equipment. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives
unless it is reasonably certain that the Company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date.
The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Furniture and equipment
IT equipment
Right of use assets

Three to five years
Three to five years
The earlier of the useful life of the right of use asset or the end of
the lease term.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying value of
the asset and is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
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(k) Intangible assets
Development expenditure
An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset and is recognised at cost if, and only if, it will generate future economic
benefits and if the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets with definitive lives are amortised over the estimated
useful life.
The Company capitalises internally developed intangible assets when the following can be demonstrated:
•
•
•
•
•
•

the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
its intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
its ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;
the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell
the intangible asset; and
its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The Company's only intangible asset is in respect of computer software and it is being amortised using the straight line method over 5
years.
At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication
of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable value is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised if the
carrying amount of intangible asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
(l) Financial investments
Financial assets measured at fair value through the profit and loss account

TU's property investment was designated on itital recognition as one to be measured at fair value through the profit and loss account.
Subsequent to initial recognition, it is remeasured at fair value which is the quoted bid price at the statement of financial position date.
Financial assets held as available-for- sale (AFS)
TU's investment debt securities are held as available-for-sale (AFS) assets. There are no derivatives.
These investments are recognised initially at fair value without any deduction for transaction costs the Company may incur on
disposal. Purchases of financial investments are recognised on the trade date, which is when the Company commits to purchase the
instrument.
The fair value of quoted investments is their quoted bid prices at the statement of financial position date.
Debt securities held here are intended to be held for an indefinite period and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in
response to changes in market conditions.
Realised gains and losses are included in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Unrealised gains
and losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial investments are recognised through Other Comprehensive Income (OCI),
except for foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary items such as debt securities, which are recognised in profit or loss. When
financial investments are sold or impaired, the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised through OCI are recognised in profit
or loss. Where these investments are interest-bearing, interest is calculated using the effective interest method and is recognised in
profit or loss.

(m) Other receivables
Other receivables are stated at their cost less impairment losses (see accounting policy (o)).
(n) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, call deposits and holdings in liquidity funds. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Company’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose only of the statement of cash flows.
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(o) Impairment
(i) Financial assets
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial
asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated
future cash flows of that asset.
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying
amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. An impairment loss
in respect of a financial investment is calculated by reference to its fair value. Impairment losses relating to property fund are
calculated by reference to its fair value through the profit and loss account.
Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed
collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.
All impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Any cumulative loss in respect of a financial
investment recognised previously in equity is transferred to the statement of comprehensive income.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost and financial investments that are debt securities, the reversal is recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income. For the property fund, the reversal is recognised through the profit and loss account.
(ii) Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated.
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets
are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of
the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit”).
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cashgenerating units are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.
Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no
longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
(p) Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities include payables to related parties and interest-bearing loans and borrowings and also bank overdrafts and other
payables. Financial liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position when the Company becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are stated at amortised cost with
any difference between cost and redemption value being recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the year of the
borrowings on an effective interest basis.
The directors have determined that the carrying amounts of bank overdrafts and other payables reasonably approximate their fair values
because these liabilities are mostly short term in nature or are repriced frequently.
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(q) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
A financial asset (or where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised where:
•
•
•

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full
without material delay to a third party under a "pass through" arrangement; or
the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and has either transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
(r) Provisions
A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
(s) Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options are
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
(t) Dividends
Dividends payable on ordinary shares are recognised when they are approved.
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1

Accounting estimates and judgements
The most critical judgements and estimates made by the Company are those regarding reported and unreported losses, including
reinsurance recoveries on those losses, and deferred policy acquisition costs.
Outstanding claims and provisions
The Company establishes reserves in respect of the anticipated losses incurred in respect of business it has underwritten. These
reserves reflect the expected ultimate cost of settling claims occurring prior to the statement of financial position date, but remaining
unsettled at that time, and take into account any related reinsurance recoveries. Such reserves are established separately for each line of
business underwritten by the Company and fall into two categories – reserves for reported losses and reserves for losses incurred but
not reported as of the statement of financial position date.
In summary, case reserves for reported losses are established on a case-by-case basis and are based largely on past experience of
settlements managed within the Company, as well as market experience on similar claims. The case reserves are set on an
undiscounted basis and reflect the anticipated cost of final settlement, taking into account inflation and other factors which might
influence the final outcome. Such reserves are reviewed on a regular basis to take account of changing circumstances, such as changes
in the law and changes in costs relating to settlement.
Technical provisions for losses incurred but not reported as of the statement of financial position date are mostly established on an
undiscounted basis. They are estimated based on historical data using various actuarial techniques and statistical modelling
methodologies and calculated separately for each line of business underwritten and take into account trends in settlement costs in
arriving at the final estimates.
Technical provisions on a discounted basis are set up in respect of Periodic Payment Orders (PPOs) only. The expected cashflows
arising from known and potential PPO claims are calculated at a gross level and a related calculation is carried out to consider
expected reinsurance cashflows. The future PPO related cashflows are discounted using a long term expected investment return to
derive discounted claims provisions and discounted reinsurance provisions.
For further details on loss reserves see note 15.
Deferred acquisition costs
A proportion of the commission expenses and other acquisition costs incurred by the Company in respect of both new and renewal
business underwritten in the year are deferred as at the statement of financial position date. Such amounts deferred are then amortised
over the estimated remaining period of the policies concerned. The extent to which costs are deferred is dependent on the directors'
judgement as regards the level of costs incurred which relate to the business written.
For further details on deferred acquisition costs see note 13.

2

Risk management
Objectives and policies for mitigating business risk
The Company has identified the following risk areas: insurance, market, counterparty default, liquidity, operational, capital
management and outsourcing which are aligned with the Company's Risk Framework Policy, which details the procedures in place to
manage these exposures. These procedures are embedded in decision making processes and the culture of the business. They include
an overall risk management framework together with a set of clearly defined risk policies which articulate the Company’s risk appetite.
The Company also maintains a comprehensive risk register which identifies and articulates the individual risks faced in each area of
the business and the controls in place to mitigate these. The Company’s Management Risk Committee meets regularly to review both
the risk profile and adherence to the risk framework, including risk appetite and risk policies, to ensure they are up-to-date, reflecting
the risks currently facing the business, and that corresponding control issues and risk mitigation actions are being addressed in a timely
manner. The Management Risk Committee's reports are provided to the Company's Board Risk Committee and Audit Committee.
(i) Insurance risk
The Company's primary insurance business is the assumption of risk of loss from individuals directly subject to the risk. The
classification of insurance risks are underwriting, claims reserving, claims management, reinsurance and expenses.
(a) Underwriting risk
Underwriting risk occurs when the Company underwrites a policy at a given price which obliges it to pay claims under certain
specified conditions, thus exposing the Company to the risk that the policy was not priced correctly due to underestimating the
frequency and/or severity of the claims and/or that payments are required under conditions that were not anticipated. Underwriting risk
is at the core of the Company’s business and is a major source of exposure for the Company’s capital. The systems and controls
required to manage and control this area of risk are therefore of critical importance.
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Risk management (continued)
Objectives and policies for mitigating business risk (continued)
(i) Insurance risk (continued)
(a) Underwriting risk (continued)
The Company’s objective for underwriting risk is to manage the risks in line with the strategic plan and deliver the required return on
capital and ensure that its plans are aligned to the strategies and plans of its distribution channel, i.e. Tesco Personal Finance plc.
The Company’s approach to underwriting risk is characterised by large numbers of policyholders with homogeneous exposures such
as car and home policies. Products are priced based on the Company’s knowledge and the technical price is given to its sole
intermediary, Tesco Personal Finance plc. Tesco Personal Finance plc has no discretion over this rate and must always provide the
Company with this rate, irrespective of the final premium that has been agreed with the client; consequently underwriting is tightly
controlled. The main technique to determine the price to be charged is to use past exposures, historical losses (plus an appropriate
allowance for losses incurred but not reported (IBNR) and external data sources with the appropriate adjustments to reflect anticipated
future market conditions, expenses and the required profit margin.
The Company reinsures a portion of the risks it underwrites in order to control its exposures to losses and protect capital resources.
The Company buys primarily excess of loss (i.e. non-proportional) reinsurance treaties to reduce its net exposure to agreed levels for
each line of business in accordance with the Company’s risk appetite. The Company has also purchased Adverse Development Cover
(ADC) against the risk of low frequency high impact scenarios. In 2018, the Company entered into a quota share reinsurance treaty in
which the Company and the reinsurer share premiums and losses at an agreed percentage.
Sensitivity analysis of insurance risk
A well designed and executed Stress and Scenario Testing (SST) programme is part of TU’s Contingency Planning which is consistent
with previous years. The tables below show more detail for the tests that relates to insurance risk with an assessed return period:
Test name (return period)
Description - Insurance Risk Stress
Rationale
TU’s market competitiveness reduces more than To assess the impact of lower
Motor Soft Market
anticipated leading to a contraction in Policies in profitability from writing lower than
(1-in-5 Yr)
Force of c.20% over 2020-2022.
expected volumes.
TU’s market competitiveness improves more than To assess the new business capital
Motor Hard Market
anticipated leading to a growth in Policies in Force strain from writing higher than
(1-in-5 Yr)
of c.20% over 2020-2022.
expected volumes.
TU’s Catastrophe reinsurance covers
A number of events occurring recurrently over 2020
up to a 1-in-200 return period. The
Multiple Weather Events
to 2022 as a result of increasingly aggravating
Non-Life Internal Model shows that
(1-in-200 Yr)
climate changes - each event is below the
multiple smaller events drive the SCR
reinsurance retention, so no recoveries are made.
figure.
Assume all TU PPO claimants have unimpaired life
PPO Severity shock
expectancy. Knock-on impact is that this element of A key assumption in the calculation of
(1-in-30 Yr)
the premium is too low and hence the 2020 Loss the Claims Reserves.
Ratio is 3% higher than Plan.
Existing BI large loss reserves are insufficient (case
reserves run-off neutrally vs. c.20% favourable
assumption in ABE). The knock-on impact is that A key assumption in the calculation of
Adverse Large Loss experience
the BI Large loss component of the premium is too the Claims Reserves.
(1-in-30 Yr)
low by 20% (relative) and hence the 2020 Loss
Ratio is 5% higher than Plan.
Significant reserve deterioration (2018 Y/E) leads to
Non-Renewal of ADC and Quota Share a claim on the ADC contract, this leads to an Non-renewal of the reinsurance covers
Reinsurance
increase in the ADC and Quota Share costs and TU (particularly the ADC) would lead to a
(1-in-10 Yr)
make the decision not to renew the covers on significant increase in the SCR figure.
1/1/2020.
Concentrations of insurance risk
A key aspect of the insurance risk faced by the Company is the degree of concentration of insurance risk, which may exist where a
particular event or series of events could impact significantly upon the Company’s liabilities. Such concentrations may arise from a
single insurance contract or through a small number of related contracts, and relate to circumstances where significant liabilities could
arise.
Concentrations of risk can arise in both high-severity, low frequency events, such as natural and other disasters and in situations where
underwriting is biased towards a particular group, such as a particular geographical concentration or demographic trend. Material
geographical concentrations of risk can exist in property portfolios such that natural perils of windstorm and floods may give rise to a
large number of material damage and business interruption claims.
High-severity, low frequency concentrations
The timing and frequency of high severity events are, by their nature, uncertain. They represent a material risk as the occurrence of
such an event would have a significant adverse impact on the Company’s cash flows and profitability.
The Company manages these risks by making appropriate allowance within the price calculated by underwriters and by purchasing a
reinsurance programme that limits the impact of these events. The Company uses non-proportional reinsurance treaties to manage
retention levels and the limits of protection.
Geographic and demographic concentrations
Material geographical concentrations of risk can exist in property portfolios such that natural perils of windstorm and floods may give
rise to a large number of material damage and business interruption claims. TU only writes policies in the UK and the Channel Islands.
The Company models its exposure to this risk to estimate its probable maximum loss and purchases reinsurance to significantly reduce
its exposure to such events.
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Risk management (continued)
Economic conditions
The Company’s insurance portfolio exposes it to a potential accumulation of different risks in the event of difficult economic
conditions or more challenging points in the underwriting cycle. The Company’s strategy has been to ensure that it charges the right
premium for the business underwritten and it focuses on maintaining prices in such difficult market conditions. It also monitors claims
closely to identify any that may be exaggerated or fraudulent.
Total aggregate exposure
The Company identifies the total aggregate exposure that it is prepared to accept in relation to concentrations of risk. It monitors these
exposures on a regular basis by reviewing reports which show the key aggregations to which the Company is exposed. The Company
uses a number of modelling tools to monitor aggregation and to simulate catastrophe losses in order to measure the effectiveness of the
reinsurance programmes, and to quantify the net exposure to which the Company is exposed. Additional stress and scenario tests are
run using these models during the year.
Objectives and policies for mitigating business risk (continued)
(i) Insurance risk (continued)
(a) Underwriting risk (continued)
Third party injury claims and credit hire
In recent years, the insurance market in general has experienced an increase in the frequency and value of third party injury claims,
arising mainly in the motor market.
These increases have been driven by an increased propensity for the population to be litigious and the extensive activities of
companies actively persuading potential victims to instigate claims. In addition, the growth in credit hire has also had a significant
impact. The Company is aware of this trend and monitors its development closely, adjusting the prices of its products accordingly.
(b) Claims reserving risk
Reserving and the ultimate cost of claims risk occurs where the Company’s estimates of its insurance liabilities prove to be insufficient
through inaccurate forecasting, adverse random variation, additional expenses or reinsurance bad debts.
The methods used to estimate the insurance liabilities in respect of outstanding claims and provisions are detailed in note 1 to the
financial statements.
The aim of the reserving policy of the Company is to produce estimates of insurance liabilities that are accurate and reliable across
each line of business and are consistent over the time period required to settle all the claims.
The Company's reserving position is reviewed at the regular Reserving Committee and is presented to the Board. In addition an annual
independent reserve review is undertaken.
(c) Claims management risk
Claims management risk may arise in the event of inaccurate or incomplete case reserving or settlement, poor customer service, claims
fraud, ineffective or inefficient claim processes or excessive costs of handling claims.
The Company's claims handling is partially outsourced to Ageas Services (UK) Limited to handle individual claims on its behalf.
The Company’s approach to claims management focuses upon creating a successful balance between satisfying the needs of the
customer against control of the overall cost of the provision of the service that meets those needs in agreement with its service
provider. Customers include both the insured as well as others that believe our insured has breached a duty of care. The Company’s
philosophy is based upon the following principles:
•
•
•
•

inception of claims – work on claims commences at first notification of a loss where the components to satisfy a customer's
claim are taken;
predicament management – tailoring the Company's service to meet each individual customer’s predicament created by the
claim event and to meet their individual needs; and
reducing failure demand – reducing the additional rework created by initially failing to take the right action for the customer.

These principles support the Company’s objectives to:
•
•
•
•

create empathy with the customer and to offer processes that successfully deal with the resolution of their individual
predicament, not just their damaged assets;
provide claims settlement that treats the Company's customers fairly, reflects Company policy, values and legal liability and
complies fully with all other regulatory requirements;
exercise control over claims reserves, indemnity claims costs, subrogated recoveries and payments to other parties; and
exercise control over the expense costs associated with handling and settling claims.

(d) Reinsurance risk
Reinsurance is placed to reduce the Company's exposure to specific risks, events and accumulations. The risk is that the reinsurance
contracts fail to perform as planned and do not reduce the gross cost of claims in terms of the limits purchased, either by risks not
being appropriately covered or by there being gaps in the programme. The reinsurance programme is subject to considerable scenario
planning, including by the Company's brokers, and is approved by the Reinsurance Committee and the Board.
The failure of a reinsurer to pay a valid claim is categorised as a credit risk.
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Risk management (continued)
Objectives and policies for mitigating business risk (continued)
(ii) Market risk
Market risk is the risk of change in the fair value of financial assets due to changes in interest rates and debt security market values.
Interest rate risk
The Company’s exposure to changes in interest rates is primarily concentrated in its investment portfolio. To mitigate changes in
interest rates the Company holds the material proportion of its investments in fixed rate debt securities. It will normally hold these
securities to their maturity in line with the investment strategy. This reduces the variation in future cash flows and provides security
over future income and redemption values.
Spread risk
The Company is exposed to changes in the market values of debt securities for reasons other than changes in interest rates. This may
be due to the credit rating changes, anticipated future interest rate changes, trading performance or market sentiment of the issuer.
The Company mitigates this risk by investing in high quality issuers in line with its investment strategy and normally holding debt
securities until their maturity.
(iii) Counterparty default risk
Credit risk is where counterparties fail to meet their obligations in full as they fall due. The main sources of credit risk are:
•
•
•
•

Investments
esco Personal Finance plc (intermediary)
Reinsurers
Other financial assets

None of the above are past due or impaired.
The Company has an Investment Committee, a Reinsurance Committee, a Board Risk Committee and a Management Risk Committee
that monitor the different exposure, rating and accumulation risks. They review policies to ensure risk is controlled.
The table below provides information regarding the credit risk exposure of the Company at 31 December 2019 by classifying assets
according to the credit ratings of counterparties. The Company actively manages its product mix to ensure that there is no significant
concentration of credit risk.
Financial assets
£m
At 31 December 2019

Financial assets recognised through profit and loss
Available for sale investments
Cash and cash equivalents
Insurance and other receivables

AAA

AA

A

BBB

Other

Total

111.3
25.3
1.4

130.2
26.6
1.7

265.9
3.4

122.2
2.7

19.1
40.6

19.1
629.6
51.9
49.8

138.0

158.5

269.3

124.9

59.7

750.4

At 31 December 2018

Financial assets recognised through profit and loss
Available for sale investments
Cash and cash equivalents
Insurance and other receivables

£m
AAA

AA

A

BBB

Other

Total

130.0
25.1
1.1

136.2
61.2
1.7

275.8
3.7

137.6
3.0

5.4
43.6

5.4
679.6
86.3
53.1

156.2

199.1

279.5

140.6

49.0

824.4

Investment ratings are provided by three credit rating agencies, Standard & Poor's, Moody's and Fitch. The ratings used are taken from
the middle rating of the three agencies.
Included in the investments above are bonds of £629.6m (2018: £679.6m) and a property fund of £19.1m (2018: £5.4m). All the bonds
are considered to be financial instruments that pass the SPPI test as required by IFRS 9, as described in note (b) of the significant
accounting policies. The property fund does not meet the SPPI test and is valued at fair value through the profit and loss account.
There are no other financial instruments that do not meet the SPPI test.
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Risk management (continued)
Objectives and policies for mitigating business risk (continued)
(iii) Counterparty default risk (continued)
Investments
The risk is managed within the Company's investment guidelines by the Investment Committee who regularly update the Board. The
investment risk appetite is low as the return is required to meet future liabilities arising from the Company's insurance business. The
debt securities that the Company holds are held as available-for-sale assets. These are held in a high quality, fixed income portfolio and
are intended to be held for an indefinite period and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in
market conditions.
An analysis of income from available for sale assets and income from other financial assets is shown in note 16.
Agents, brokers and intermediaries
The Company only trades through Tesco Personal Finance plc which is authorised by the PRA and regulated by the FCA and the
PRA.
The levels of debt are regularly monitored and appropriate action is taken in respect of slow and non-payment within the terms of
credit.
2019
£m

2019
%

2018
£m

2018
%

Within terms

3.3

100.0

3.1

100.0

Total

3.3

100.0

3.1

100.0

Reinsurance
The Company is exposed to credit risk through its reinsurance arrangements, where amounts due under a reinsurance contract may not
be paid. The Company manages this risk by using only A grade (or better) reinsurers, or group companies supported by parent
guarantee. The ratings of reinsurers are monitored by the Reinsurance Committee.
Other financial assets
The credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Company, comprising cash and cash equivalents, instalments and other
receivables, but excluding related party balances, from the default of the counterparty. Default on instalment payments results in the
Company cancelling the underlying policy in order to reduce its exposure.
The maximum exposure is equal to the carrying amount of those assets.
An analysis of insurance and other receivables is shown in note 17.
(iv) Liquidity risk
The Company is exposed to liquidity risks arising from daily calls on its cash resources, notably from claims arising on its insurance
contracts. There is therefore a risk that cash will not be available to settle liabilities when due.
The liquidity risk needs to be balanced against the aim to match the maturity of financial assets with the estimate of the settlement of
insurance liabilities and also optimise the yield on the investment portfolio.
The Company manages its liquidity risk by having investment guidelines that it maintains sufficient liquidity or its financial assets can
be realised at short notice in the event of a major event or catastrophe. The Company may also make use of borrowing facilities if
required.
The following table shows information about the estimated timing of the net cash flows based on the claims liabilities at 31 December
2019 and contractual maturity profile for the other financial liabilities as at 31 December 2019. The estimated phasing of the claims
liabilities is based on current estimates and the actual timing of future settlement cash flows may differ from that disclosed below. The
Company undertakes liquidity stress tests to assess the impact on the cash flow from these events.
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Risk management (continued)
Objectives and policies for mitigating business risk (continued)
(iv) Liquidity risk (continued)
Maturity profile of financial assets 2019
£m

Reinsurance assets
Financial assets where change in fair
value is recognised in the profit and
loss account
Available for sale investments
Insurance and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Within
1 year

2 -5
years

5 years
and above

No
term

Total

5.9

30.3

141.0

-

177.3

97.4
38.1
51.9

365.8
11.5
-

166.3
0.2

19.1
-

19.1
629.5
49.8
51.9

193.3

407.5

307.5

19.1

927.5

-

Maturity profile of financial assets 2018
£m

Reinsurance assets
Financial assets where change in fair
value is recognised in the profit and
loss account
Available-for-sale investments
Insurance and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Within
1 year

2 -5
years

5 years
and above

No
term

Total

32.8

42.5

111.4

-

186.6

81.9
39.8
86.3

431.9
13.0
-

165.8
0.3

5.4
-

5.4
679.6
53.1
86.3

240.7

487.5

277.4

5.4

1,011.1

No
term

Total

-

Maturity profile of financial liabilities 2019
£m

Insurance contract provisions
Loans and borrowings
Reinsurance payables and funds withheld
Current tax liability
Insurance payables and other payables
Lease Liability

Within
1 year

2 -5
years

5 years
and above

202.2
1.6
1.2
18.1
0.2

239.9
38.1

234.0

223.4

-

-

42.3
-

-

-

0.5
278.5

234.0

676.1
42.3
39.7
1.2
18.1
0.7

42.3

778.2

No
term

Total

Maturity profile of financial liabilities 2018
£m

Insurance contract provisions
Loans and borrowings
Reinsurance payables
Current tax liability
Insurance payables and other payables

Within
1 year

2 -5
years

5 years
and above

225.8
1.6
0.5
19.8

297.7
30.7

235.7

247.7

328.4

-

-

58.0
-

235.7
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Risk management (continued)
Objectives and policies for mitigating business risk (continued)
(iv) Liquidity risk (continued)
Claims liabilities - Estimated payment profile
2019
£m

2019
%

2018
£m

2018
%

0 - 1 year
2 - 5 years
5 years and above

108.6
187.8
226.2

20.8%
35.9%
43.3%

124.6
237.1
225.3

21.2%
40.4%
38.4%

Total

522.7

100.0%

587.1

100.0%

Payment period

An analysis of insurance contract provisions is shown in note 15 (iii).
(v) Operational risk
Operational risk arises from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems, or from external events. It is diverse in nature
and permeates all business activities but remains a distinct form of risk. Operational risk includes for example, information technology,
people, strategy, business continuity, regulatory, legal and financial crime. Operational risk incidents can lead to additional exposure to
other risk types resulting from an inadequate or inappropriate control environment.
The identification, assessment and evaluation, management, monitoring and reporting of risks rests with business managers of the
different areas. Risks are identified, assessed and scored; the Management Risk Committee on a regular basis reviews the risks and for
those falling outside the Company’s risk appetite monitors the remedial action to ensure compliance with the Company’s risk appetite.
Operational losses and near misses are reviewed to ensure there is ongoing improvement of the control environment.
(vi) Capital management
Aims of capital management policy
The Company has established standards for the efficient management of capital, to meet the needs of the business and return on capital
requirements of shareholders. This includes the capital required to support the Solvency Risk Appetite as specified in the Company's
Risk Appetite Policy in full compliance with the requirements of the PRA. Under the Own Risk and Solvency Assessment (ORSA)
process the Company also carries out a regular programme of stress and scenario testing to assess the impact on potential future capital
requirements.
The Company has a Resolution Plan document, which has been agreed in principle by the Board, based on the guidelines provided in
the PRA's Supervisory Statement on Resolution Planning. This contains the baseline information needed to determine a resolution
strategy, including details of the Company's ownership structure, business model, internal dependencies and external
interconnectedness; and provides the PRA with sufficient information for them to assess the preferred resolution strategy for the firm.
Definitions of capital management (and supporting terms)
Capital management is the collection of processes and activities undertaken to provide sufficient capital to enable the organisation to
meet its liabilities and ultimately ensure its survival, particularly in case of losses arising from adverse events.
Capital management includes the assessment of capital required to support the Company's plans and objectives, the structure of its
shareholders’ funds, arrangements to secure capital, and the ongoing monitoring of capital against business requirements, as well as
the assessments required by the PRA under the Solvency II regime, including the minimum capital requirement (MCR) and solvency
capital requirement (SCR), assessed using its approved Solvency II partial internal model (PIM) and Solvency II standard formula (SF).
During 2019 the Company has principally measured its available capital against the PIM required capital.
The Company has a capital contingency plan which sets out the approach to the risk that it could breach its SCR and require an
additional, unplanned capital injection.
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Risk management (continued)
Objectives and policies for mitigating business risk (continued)
(vi) Capital management (continued)
Approach to capital management
Each year the Company will prepare a three-year strategic plan, which will be reviewed and restated annually and then formally
approved by the Company’s Board.
A key factor in the formulation of the Strategic Plan is the ORSA process which covers the assessment of the capital required to
support the business objectives (i.e. growth and profit targets) and the appropriateness of the supporting capital structure.
Overall capital requirements and structure are assessed taking account of the following:
•
•
•
•

capital required to support the planned growth in new business and renewal premiums and profit targets;
the required rate of return on capital employed;
the required dividend; and
PRA solvency capital requirements based on the Company's approved Partial Internal Model from 1 January 2016.

The Company's available capital is compared to its risk appetite above the Solvency II PIM SCR. At 31 December 2019 the Company
had unaudited Solvency II own funds of £189.7m (2018: £185.8m) against unaudited PIM SCR of £118.5m (2018: £128.4m). The
coverage ratio is 160.0% (2018: 144.7%). The Company made a dividend payment of £31.3m and a repayment of subordinated loan of
£15.7m in March 2019. Share Capital was reduced by £16m in the year.
Sensitivity to key business drivers
The impact of the changes in key business drivers is each assumed to be a discrete change. All other factors will be unchanged.
Some of these changes cannot be guaranteed to have a linear effect and as a whole range of other factors will impact the results they
cannot be guaranteed to predict the result detailed. In addition the Company's risk management processes are designed to ensure that
corrective action is implemented to mitigate or reverse the changes.
Interest yields sensitivity
The Company will be exposed to the impact of interest yield changes on its financial assets and liabilities. If interest yields fall there
would be a reduction in income on short-term cash balances and an increase in the market value of fixed interest debt securities. If
interest yields rise there would be an increase in income on short-term cash balances and a decrease in the market value of fixed
interest debt securities. As the Company will normally hold its fixed interest debt securities for an indefinite period, it will neither
benefit from an increase nor suffer any reduction in its future cash flow. It will either benefit from an increase or suffer a reduction in
the yield on any future fixed interest debt securities purchased from surplus funds and the maturity of current investments.
Forecasting the impact on the market values of fixed interest debt securities will not be linear due to other factors including credit
rating movement, anticipation of future interest rate changes, trading performance or market sentiment of the issuers.
Interest yields 2019

2019
£m

2019
£m

2019
£m

2019
£m

Interest yield change

+ 0.5%

+ 0.25%

- 0.25%

- 0.5%

Increase/(reduction) in profit
(Decrease)/increase in net assets

0.6
(3.2)

0.3
(1.6)

(0.3)
1.5

(0.6)
2.9

Total estimated (decrease)/increase in net assets excluding tax impact

(2.6)

(1.3)

1.2

2.3

Interest yields 2018

2018
£m

2018
£m

2018
£m

2018
£m

Interest yield change

+ 0.5%

+ 0.25%

- 0.25%

- 0.5%

0.7
(0.2)

0.4
(0.0)

(0.4)
(0.2)

(0.7)
(0.7)

0.5

0.3

(0.6)

(1.4)

Increase/(reduction) in profit
(Decrease)/increase in net assets
Total estimated (decrease)/increase in net assets excluding tax impact
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Risk management (continued)
Objectives and policies for mitigating business risk (continued)
(vi) Capital management (continued)
Expenses increase by 5.0%
If all three expense areas (acquisition, administration and claims) were to increase by 5.0% each, in addition to the impact on profit of
the additional costs, it will also increase the claims handling provision and the deferred acquisition costs to the extent that these will
be recovered by unearned premiums.
2019
£m

2018
£m

Total reduction in profit before tax

3.4

4.4

Total reduction in net assets before tax

3.4

4.4

Gross loss ratio increases by 1.0%

If the cost of claims were to increase the gross loss ratio (gross incurred claims as a proportion of gross earned premium) by 1.0% there
would be a reduction in profits. It is assumed that a similar portion of claims costs would be recoverable from reinsurers. There would
also be an increase in claims handling reserve as a proportion of the claims would be unpaid at the statement of financial position date.
2019
£m

2018
£m

Total reduction in profit before tax

3.3

3.6

Total reduction in net assets before tax

3.3

3.6

(vii) Outsourcing risk
Outsourcing risk arises from the reliance on, or failure of, an outsourcer to:
•
•
•

exercise control over major processes, key operations, functions and knowledge that are critical to the Company's
business;
comply with the Company's risk policies;
deliver their contractual agreements.

It also includes the risk of needing to bring back in-house the key operations and not having the capacity to do so.
The identification, assessment and evaluation, management, monitoring and reporting of risks rests with business managers of the
different areas. This process applies wherever the Company appoints a third party (either independent or intra group) for the supply of
services which are integral to its main business activities.
(viii) Brexit risk
The Company has undertaken an assessment of the impact of the UK leaving the EU. Given that the Company operates exclusively in
the UK market it has concluded that the risks for the business (for example in relation to claims costs, a wider economic downturn and
investment returns) are akin to those typical of its ongoing operations and, taken overall, are assessed to be limited and manageable
within the context of its existing plans.
The potential financial impact of the various Brexit scenarios is assessed as being appropriately covered by the business stress and
scenario tests from the Own Risks Solvency Assessment. These tests concluded that the specific risks associated with Brexit are also
limited and manageable.
(ix) Climate Change Risk
The Company has considered risks associated with climate change. This is considered in full within the Environment section of the
section 172 (1) statement.
3

Premium and ceded premium

Gross premium written
Change in the gross provision for unearned premium
Gross insurance premium revenue
less: Written premium ceded to reinsurers
Reinsurers’ share of change in the provision for unearned premium
Ceded earned premium
Net insurance premium revenue
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2019
£m

2018
£m

310.0
18.7
328.7
(67.4)
(2.6)
(70.0)
258.7

342.1
17.3
359.4
(70.3)
21.6
(48.7)
310.7
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5

Investment income
2019
£m

2018
£m

Interest income:
- Financial investments interest income
- Dividend income from financial assets through profit and loss account
- Loans and receivables interest income
Fair value losses on financial assets at FVPL (designated as such on initial recognition)
Realised gains and losses from available-for-sale assets

12.5
0.9
0.5
(0.5)
1.1

14.1
0.1
0.3
0.0
0.6

Total investment income

14.5

15.1

Other operating income
Other operating income reflects income derived from fees earned upon the referral of customers to third parties for car hire and legal
services.

6

7

8

Claims and benefits incurred
2019
£m

2018
£m

Current year claims paid
Change in prior years claims provisions
Claims handling costs
Additional liabilities arising during the year

(14.5)
(23.0)
(11.3)
(160.8)

(133.0)
58.8
(11.6)
(187.8)

Total claims and benefits incurred

(209.6)

(273.6)

2019
£m

2018
£m

Commission expenses payable
Other acquisition costs payable
Changes in deferred acquisition costs

(16.2)
(4.7)
(8.9)

(36.8)
(5.0)
(9.6)

Total acquisition costs

(29.8)

(51.4)

2019
£m

2018
£m

(2.4)

(2.6)

(14.8)
(1.5)
(0.9)

(13.4)
(1.5)
(0.9)

(0.3)

(0.3)

(7.8)

(6.7)

(27.7)

(25.4)

Acquisition costs

Operating expenses

Depreciation and amortisation
Employee expense and benefits:
- Wages and salaries
- Compulsory social security contributions
- Contributions to defined contribution plans
Auditor's remuneration:
- Fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audit of the Company's annual accounts *
- Fees payable to the Company's auditor for other services:
Other assurance services
Other services pursuant to legislation
Solvency II fees *
Other operating expenses
Total operating expenses

* The Company paid its auditor £215,800 (2018: £204,250) for the audit of these financial statements and £39,400 (2018: £38,250) for
the audit of the Solvency and Financial Condition Report in the year.
9

Finance costs
2019
£m

2018
£m

Interest expense

(2.1)

(2.7)

Total finance costs

(2.1)

(2.7)
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Analysis of tax charge in the period
2019
£m

2018
£m

(5.4)
(5.4)

(2.6)
(2.6)

-

(2.0)
(2.0)

Tax on profit on ordinary activities

(5.4)

(4.6)

Profit on ordinary activities before tax

28.4

24.4

Profit on ordinary activities at the standard rate of
corporation tax in the UK at 19% (2018: 19%)

(5.4)

(4.6)

-

-

(5.4)

(4.6)

Current tax recognised through OCI
Deferred tax recognised through OCI

(0.2)
(1.5)

(0.2)
2.8

Total tax recognised directly in equity

(1.7)

2.6

Current tax
UK corporation tax on (profits)/losses of the period
Prior year under provision in respect of current tax

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of timing differences
Prior year under provision in respect of deferred tax

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Transfer pricing adjustment
Effect of variable tax rates
Prior year (over)/under provision in respect of current tax
Prior year under provision in respect of deferred tax
Tax on profit on ordinary activities

-

Statement of other comprehensive income

11 Intangible assets
IT software
£m
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2018
Additions
Disposals
Balance at 31 December 2018
Additions
Balance at 31 December 2019

23.2
2.6
25.8
3.4
29.2

Amortisation and impairment losses
Balance at 1 January 2018
Amortisation charge for the year
Balance at 31 December 2018
Amortisation charge for the year
Balance at 31 December 2019

18.0
2.3
20.3
1.9
22.2

Carrying amounts
Balance at 31 December 2018
Balance at 31 December 2019

5.6
7.1
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Right of
Use Asset:
Lease
£m
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2018
Acquisitions/Disposals
Balance at 31 December 2018
Recognition of right-of-use asset on initial adoption of IFRS 16
Disposals
Balance at 31 December 2019
Depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at 1 January 2018
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals
Balance at 31 December 2018
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals
Balance at 31 December 2019
Carrying amounts
Balance at 31 December 2018
Balance at 31 December 2019

Furniture
£m

IT
equipment
£m

Total
£m

1.9
0.2
2.1
(0.1)
2.1

0.3
0.3
0.3

2.2
0.2
2.4
0.8
3.2

0.2

1.9
1.9
0.1
2.0

0.3
0.3
0.3

2.2
2.2
0.3
2.5

0.7

0.2
0.1

-

0.9
0.9

0.2

-

0.2
0.7

The Company has applied IFRS 16 from 1 January 2019 using the modified retrospective approach and therefore the comparative
information has not been restated and continues to be reported under IAS17.
The Company leases office premises under an operating lease. The original lease agreement was from 2012, with option to extend
from 2017. The option to renew for 5 years is from 2017 - 2022.The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability as at
1 January 2019. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at this date taking the cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease
liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus an estimate of costs to restore the building to
the condition at the start of the lease.
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight line method from the commencement date to the end of the lease
term. The interest expense charged on lease liabilities during the year was £21,296.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments using the Company's incremental borrowing rate of
2.25% which is included within Insurance payables, other payables and deferred Income (Note 21).
The following is a reconciliation of total operating lease commitments at 31 December 2018 (as disclosed in the financial statements
to 31 December 2018) to the lease liabilities recognised at 1 January 2019) :
£m
Total operating lease commitments disclosed at 31 December 2018 :
0.9
Other minor adjustments relating to commitment disclosures
Total operating lease liabilities before discounting
Discounted using incremental borrowing rate
Total lease liabilities recognised under IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019

0.1
1.0
(0.1)
0.9

13 Deferred acquisition costs
As part of the Company’s insurance business, certain acquisition costs are deferred. An analysis of these deferred costs is set
out below:
2019
£m
Balance at 1 January
Acquisition costs incurred in period
Amortisation charged to income
Balance at 31 December

19.3
20.8
(29.7)
10.4

2018
£m
29.0
41.7
(51.4)
19.3

14 Deferred tax
From 1 April 2017, the main rate of UK Corporation Tax has is 19%. The Finance Act 2016 was substantively enacted on 6
September 2016 and the HMRC policy paper published 11 March 2020 sets the Corporation Tax main rate at 19% (effective 1 April
2020). The deferred tax liability recognised as at 31 December 2019 has been calculated based on these rates.

Deferred tax (liabilities) and assets are attributable to the following:

2019
£m

2018
£m

Unwind of loss on assets held as AFS through Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)
Unrealised loss on assets held as AFS through OCI
Other temporary differences
Deferred tax (liability)/asset

(0.1)
(2.4)
0.1
(2.4)

(0.2)
(0.7)
0.1
(0.8)

2019
£m
(0.8)
0.1
(1.7)
(0.0)
(2.4)

2018
£m
(1.6)
(1.9)
0.2
2.6
(0.1)
(0.8)

There are no unrecognised deferred tax assets or liabilities.
Movement in temporary differences during the year
Balance at 1 January
Profits carried forward
Unwind of loss on assets held as AFS through OCI
Unrealised loss/(gain) on assets held as AFS through OCI
Other temporary differences
Balance at 31 December

The deferred income tax recognised through OCI during the year relates to unrealised movements on financial investments.
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2019
Gross Reinsurance
£m
£m
Unearned premiums
Claims reported by policy holders
Claims incurred but not reported
Total insurance contract provisions
Current
Non current

2018
Gross Reinsurance
£m
£m

Net
£m

Net
£m

153.5
652.9
(130.3)
676.1

(31.0)
(278.2)
131.9
(177.3)

122.5
374.7
1.6
498.8

172.2
680.9
(93.9)
759.2

(33.6)
(273.1)
120.1
(186.6)

138.6
407.8
26.2
572.6

202.1
474.0
676.1

(6.0)
(171.3)
(177.3)

196.1
302.7
498.8

225.8
533.4
759.2

(32.8)
(153.8)
(186.6)

193.0
379.6
572.6

2019
Gross Reinsurance
£m
£m

Net
£m

2018
Gross Reinsurance
£m
£m

Net
£m

Recoveries are not included above. For details see subsection (iii).
(i) Analysis of movements in insurance provisions

Balance at 1 January
Claims paid/recovered from reinsurers
Movement in claims incurred but not
reported
Claims reported in the period
Change in provision for unearned
premiums
Balance at 31 December

759.2
(258.9)

(186.6)
26.7

572.6
(232.2)

781.9
(271.7)

(134.7)
16.0

647.2
(255.7)

(36.4)
230.8

12.9
(32.9)

(23.5)
197.9

(20.2)
286.4

(9.5)
(36.8)

(29.7)
249.6

(18.6)
676.1

2.6
(177.3)

(16.0)
498.8

(17.2)
759.2

(21.6)
(186.6)

(38.8)
572.6

2019
£m

2018
£m

172.2
310.0
(328.7)
153.5

189.5
342.1
(359.4)
172.2

2019
£m

2018
£m

587.0
317.4
(111.8)
(136.0)
(133.9)
522.7

592.4
356.4
(78.6)
(144.6)
(138.6)
587.0

31.0
20.6
(24.4)
27.2

26.8
24.0
(19.8)
31.0

556.0
296.9
(87.3)
(136.1)
(134.0)
495.5

565.6
332.4
(58.8)
(144.6)
(138.6)
556.0

(ii) Analysis of movements in provision for gross unearned premium

Balance at 1 January
Premiums written during the year
Less: premiums earned during the year
Balance at 31 December
(iii) Analysis of movements in outstanding claims

Gross outstanding claims
Balance at 1 January
Current year claims
Change in prior year claims
Current year claims paid
Prior year claims paid
Balance at 31 December
Salvage and subrogation recoveries (note 17)
Balance at 1 January
Current year claims
Change in prior year claims
Balance at 31 December
Gross claims outstanding net of recoveries
Balance at 1 January
Current year claims
Change in prior year claims
Current year claims paid
Prior year claims paid
Balance at 31 December

38

TESCO UNDERWRITING LIMITED

Notes to the financial statements
15 Insurance contract provisions and reinsurance assets (continued)
(iv) Process used to determine the assumptions
The sources of data used as inputs for the assumptions behind insurance provisions are internal, using detailed studies that are carried
out at least annually. The assumptions are checked to ensure that they are consistent with observable market prices or other published
information. There is more emphasis on current trends, and where in more recent periods there is insufficient information to make a
reliable best estimate of claims development, suitable benchmark assumptions are used.
The nature of the business makes it very difficult to predict with certainty the likely outcome of any particular claim and the ultimate
cost of notified claims. Each notified claim is assessed on a separate, case by case basis with due regard to the claim circumstances and
historical evidence of the size of similar claims. Case estimates are reviewed regularly and are updated as and when new information
arises. The provisions are based on information currently available. However, the ultimate liabilities may vary as a result of subsequent
developments. The impact of many of the items affecting the ultimate costs of the loss is difficult to estimate. The degree of
complexity involved will also differ by book of business due to differences in the underlying insurance contract, claim complexity, the
volume of claims and the individual severity of claims, determining the occurrence date of a claim, and reporting lags.
The cost of outstanding claims and the IBNR provisions are estimated using various statistical methods. Such methods extrapolate the
development of paid and incurred claims, average cost per claims and ultimate claim numbers for each accident period based upon
observed development of earlier periods, with reference to suitable benchmarks.
The key methods are:
•

development factor methods, which use historical data to estimate the paid and incurred to date as proportions of the
ultimate claim cost;

•

individual claim assessment methods, which use claim specific details for large individual claims to estimate the ultimate
claim cost; and
benchmarking methods, which use the experience of comparable, more mature classes, or market data to estimate the cost
of claims.

•

The actual method or blend of methods used varies by accident period being considered, the class of business and observed historical
claims development.
To the extent that these methods use historical claims development information they assume that the historical claims development
pattern will occur again in the future. There are reasons why this may not be the case, which, insofar as they can be identified, have
been allowed for by modifying the methods. Such reasons include:
•
•
•
•

changes in processes that affect the development / recording of claims paid and incurred (such as changes in claim
reserving procedures and/or the introduction of a new claims system);
economic, legal, political and social trends (resulting in, for example, a difference in expected levels of inflation);
changes in mix of business; and
random fluctuations, including the impact of large losses.

IBNR provisions are initially estimated at a gross level and a separate calculation is carried out to estimate the size of reinsurance
recoveries. The Company is covered by a variety of excess of loss reinsurance programmes. The methods used by the Company take
account of historic data, specific details for individual large claims and details of the reinsurance programme, to assess the expected
size of reinsurance recoveries.
The Company considers that the liability for claims reported in the statement of financial position is adequate. However, it recognises
that the process of estimation is based upon certain variables and assumptions, which could differ when claims arise.
Recoveries through salvage and subrogation are estimated and recorded as an asset separately based on a combination of suitable
benchmark assumptions and the observed development to date.
Ogden rate
The personal injury discount rate (or “Ogden rate”) is set by the Ministry of Justice and is used by the courts to calculate lump sum
personal injury payments. As a result of the change in the Ogden rate from -0.75% to -0.25% on 15 July 2019, reserves have been
assessed at the current rate. The change from the previous Ogden rate of -0.75% resulted in a benefit of £7.4m (pre tax) to the 2019
profit.
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15 Insurance contract provisions and reinsurance assets (continued)
(v) Analysis of claims development – gross of reinsurance and net of salvage and subrogation recoveries
Accident year
Total 20112016
£m

2011
£m

2012
£m

2013
£m

2014
£m

2015
£m

2016
£m

Estimate of gross ultimate claims costs:
at end of accident year
one year later
two years later
three years later
four years later
five years later
six years later
seven years later
eight years later
nine years later

322.9
312.1
297.6
295.5
292.5
293.4
292.2
292.7
294.3

529.8
534.4
522.5
517.3
526.8
517.7
520.3
518.9

390.6
388.4
372.6
382.8
362.5
360.3
360.8

349.3
352.7
379.1
352.9
359.7
346.9

327.1
343.2
343.1
322.7
311.5

370.7
372.1
335.0
324.5

Current estimate of cumulative claims

294.3

518.9

360.8

346.9

311.5

324.5

2,156.9

(287.3)

(497.6)

(346.2)

(323.5)

(282.7)

(257.6)

(1,994.9)

7.0

21.3

14.6

23.4

28.8

66.9

162.0

2017
£m

2018
£m

2019
£m

304.3
298.8
269.3

317.4
296.7

282.2

2,156.9

269.3

296.7

282.2

3,005.1

(1,994.9)

(206.8)

(187.9)

(124.8)

(2,514.4)

162.0

62.5

108.8

157.4

490.7

Cumulative payments to date
Current gross claims provisions

Total 20112016
£m
Estimate of gross ultimate claims costs:
at end of accident year
one year later
two years later
three years later
four years later
five years later
six years later
seven years later
eight years later
nine years later
Current estimate of cumulative claims
Cumulative payments to date
Current gross claims provisions

Total
£m

Provision for claims handling costs

4.8

Total gross claims outstanding provisions

495.5

(vi) Analysis of claims development – net of reinsurance and net of salvage and subrogation recoveries
Accident year
Total 20112016
£m

2011
£m

2012
£m

2013
£m

2014
£m

2015
£m

2016

Estimate of net ultimate claims costs:
at end of accident year
one year later
two years later
three years later
four years later
five years later
six years later
seven years later
eight years later
nine years later

315.3
305.3
293.9
292.6
289.9
290.2
289.1
289.0
290.6

515.5
521.9
512.4
506.6
505.4
500.3
503.6
503.3

378.8
380.3
367.9
371.5
358.9
355.2
356.2

336.0
338.2
348.9
342.6
339.1
338.0

319.5
327.2
330.7
314.8
305.8

310.5
319.2
302.0
291.7

Current estimate of cumulative claims

290.6

503.3

356.2

338.0

305.8

291.7

2,085.6

Cumulative payments to date

(285.1)

(494.0)

(345.9)

(319.1)

(282.1)

(251.5)

(1,977.7)

Current net claims provisions

5.5

9.3

10.3

18.9

23.7

40.2

107.9
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(vi) Analysis of claims development – net of reinsurance and net of salvage and subrogation recoveries (continued)
Accident year
Total 20112016
£m

2017
£m

2018
£m

2019
£m

275.9
269.6
251.9

258.9
259.2

235.6

2,085.6

251.9

259.2

235.5

2,832.2

Cumulative payments to date

(1,977.7)

(206.8)

(178.6)

(124.8)

(2,487.9)

Current net claims provisions

107.9

45.1

80.6

110.7

344.3

Estimate of net ultimate claims costs:
at end of accident year
one year later
two years later
three years later
four years later
five years later
six years later
Current estimate of cumulative claims

Total
£m

Provision for claims handling costs

4.8

Total net claims outstanding provisions

349.1

16 Financial investments
2019
£m

2018
£m

19.1

5.4

Available-for-sale investments
Debt securities - fixed rate
Supranational / Agency bonds
Corporate bonds

133.5
496.1

125.6
554.0

Total financial investments

648.7

685.0

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Property Fund

The movements in financial investments are as follows:
AFS
2019
£m
Balance at 1 January
Additions
Sales and redemptions
Fair value unrealised gains and losses - AFS assets

679.6
82.4
(140.1)
9.8

FVPL
2019
£m
5.4
14.2

(0.5)
Fair value through profit and loss gains and losses
Amortisation of premiums and discounts
Balance at 31 December

(2.1)
629.6

19.1

Total
2019
£m

AFS
2018
£m

685.0
96.6
(140.1)
9.8
(0.5)

771.4
44.6
(120.1)
(13.7)
-

(2.1)

(2.6)

648.7

679.6

FVPL
2018
£m

Total
2018
£m

5.4

-

771.4
50.0
(120.1)
(13.7)
(2.6)

5.4

685.0

As at 31 December 2019 the current portion of financial investments available for sale is £97.4m (2018: £81.9m) and the non-current
portion is £532.2m (2018: £597.7m).
As at 31 December 2019 the property investment where fair value is through the profit and loss account is non-current 2019: £19.1m
(2018: £5.4m).
The effective interest rate at the statement of financial position date on sterling investments is 1.97% (2018: 1.88%).
During the year £1.8m (2018: £1.3m) of available-for-sale debt securities has been reclassified from previously unrecognised gains or
losses within OCI to profit or loss on disposal.
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16 Financial investments (continued)
Valuation of financial investments
The Company measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making
the measurements:
•
•

•

Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument;
Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 either directly
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using quoted market prices in
active markets for similar instruments, in markets that are considered less than active, or other valuation techniques where all
significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data;
Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all instruments where the
valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on
the instrument's valuation. The category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar
instruments where significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the
instruments.

The table below analyses financial instruments, measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period, by the level in the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised:
2019
Level 1
£m

Level 2
£m

Level 3
£m

Total
£m

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Property Fund

-

19.1

-

19.1

Available-for-sale investments
Debt securities - fixed rate

-

629.6

-

629.6

Total financial investments

-

648.7

-

648.7

2018
Level 1
£m

Level 2
£m

Level 3
£m

Total
£m

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Property Fund

-

5.4

-

5.4

Available-for-sale investments
Debt securities - fixed rate

-

679.6

-

679.6

Total financial investments

-

685.0

-

685.0

The Company does not have direct exposure to sovereign debt other than to the UK government and indirect exposure is carefully
managed through conservative investment guidelines.
There have been no transfers between levels during the year.
17 Insurance and other receivables
2019
£m

2018
£m

Receivables arising from insurance contracts: reinsurers
Amounts due from group undertakings
Salvage and subrogation recoveries
Other receivables and prepayments
Accrued interest income
Accrued dividend income
Deferred other charges

1.3
3.3
27.2
8.0
9.0
0.2
0.8

5.5
3.1
31.0
2.8
9.4
0.1
1.2

Total insurance and other receivables

49.8

53.1

Current
Non current

38.1
11.7
49.8

39.8
13.3
53.1

Amounts due from group undertakings relates to premiums paid by policyholders to Tesco Personal Finance plc which have yet to be
passed to the Company.
18 Cash and cash equivalents
2019
£m

2018
£m

Cash at bank
Cash equivalents

20.7
31.2

20.5
65.8

Cash and cash equivalents

51.9

86.3

Cash equivalents include liquidity funds of £25.3m (2018: 25.1m). The effective interest rate at 31 December 2019 on short term bank
deposits and liquidity funds was 0.4% (2018: 0.4%), with an average maturity of one day.

42

TESCO UNDERWRITING LIMITED

Notes to the financial statements
19 Financial liabilities - loans and borrowings
2019
£m

2018
£m

Non-current liabilities
Subordinated Debt

42.3

58.0

Total loans and borrowings

42.3

58.0

During the year there was a repayment of £15.7m of subordinated debt (2018: £10.3m).
The subordinated debt bears interest at 3.5% plus the LIBOR rate on the first day of the interest period on £28m and 4.5% plus the
LIBOR rate on the first day of the interest period on £14.3m. Interest is paid quarterly. The loan has no stated maturity.

20 Current tax asset/liability

The current tax liability of £1.2m (2018 : liability £0.5m) represents the amount of income taxes payable in respect of the current year.
21 Insurance payables, other payables and deferred income

Amounts due to group undertakings
Direct insurance contract payables
Other payables and accrued expenses
Lease Liability
IPT, VAT and other taxes payable
Total insurance payables, other payables and deferred income

2019
£m

2018
£m

0.5
8.5
0.7
9.1
18.8

1.4
0.1
8.0
10.3
19.8

Amounts due to group undertakings are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand in cash.
22 Funds withheld
From the beginning of 2018 the Company has put in place a Quota Share (QS) contract as part of its overall reinsurance protection
strategy. A funds withheld account is maintained which represents the balance due to reinsurers in accordance with the terms of this
reinsurance agreement. The balance is made up of QS funds withheld of £48.8m (2018: £27.9m) and a profit commission of (£10.7m)
(2018: £2.8m) (which is part of the contract, but is a separate "payable").
23 Pension scheme
The Company participates in the Ageas Group Personal Pension Scheme in respect of all staff; it is a defined contribution scheme.
The assets of the scheme are held by Scottish Widows. The pension cost in respect of members of this fund represents contributions
payable by the Company to the fund and amounted to £911,002 (2018: £914,375).
The Company accounts for pension costs in accordance with IAS 19, Employment Benefits.
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24 Share capital
In millions of shares
Ordinary shares in issue at 31 December
Ordinary shares authorised at 31 December

2019

2018

129.7

145.7

500

500

At 31 December 2019, the issued share capital comprised 64,704,166 ordinary A shares and 64,963,501 ordinary B shares. Both A and
B ordinary shares have a par value of £1 and were fully paid up at the end of the year.
The Company redeemed £16m of its issued share capital in 2019 comprising 7,984,000 ordinary A shares of £1 each and 8,016,000
ordinary B shares of £1 each. This was a non-cash redemption funded through a solvency statement capital reduction.
The beneficial owners of A and B ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one
vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.
The authorised share capital comprised 249,999,999 A ordinary shares of £1 each and 250,000,001 B ordinary shares of £1 each.
The following notes are required to be disclosed by relevant accounting standards or by the Companies Act 2006.
25 Staff numbers
The total number of persons employed by the Company (including executive directors) at the year-end, analysed by category, was as
follows:
2019
2018
Business acquisition
Claims handling
Administration

47
250
68
365

49
248
69
366

2019

2018

46
239
65
351

47
238
67
352

2019

2018

Total number of employees

367

380

Full time equivalent number of employees

348

366

The full time equivalent number of employees was as follows:

Business acquisition
Claims handling
Administration

The average number of persons employed by the Company during the year was as follows:
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26 Related party transactions
Identity of related parties
The Company has a related party relationship with its directors.
In the ordinary course of business the Company carries out transactions with related parties as defined in IAS 24, Related Party
Disclosures. Material transactions are set out below:

Ageas (UK) Limited
Ageas (UK) Limited - subordinated loan
Tesco Personal Finance plc
Tesco Personal Finance plc - subordinated loan

2019
Costs
£m

2019
Balances
£m

2018
Costs
£m

2018
Balances
£m

10.5
1.1
23.5
1.1
36.2

0.2
21.3
(2.1)
21.3
40.7

10.2
1.3
39.2
1.3
52.0

0.6
29.3
(2.3)
29.2
56.8

The Company's immediate parent undertaking is Ageas (UK) Limited which provides the Company with claims handling and
management services. Ageas (UK) Limited funded the investment in systems and set-up costs which have been passed to the Company
subsequently.
The Company is jointly owned by Tesco Personal Finance plc which provides the Company with IT and management services.
Transactions with Tesco Personal Finance plc are recorded as Other Related Party Transactions.
Both Ageas (UK) Limited and Tesco Personal Finance plc have provided the Company with subordinated loans.

27 Directors' remuneration
The directors' compensations are as follows:

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits (see note below)

2019
£m

2018
£m

1.6
1.6

1.5
1.5

The aggregate of emoluments of the highest paid director was £600,061, with no post-employment benefits (2018: £532,919, with no
post-employment benefits). Post-employment benefits for all Directors in 2019 amounted to £4,259 (2018: £4,374).
In addition to their salaries, the Company also provides non-cash benefits to directors (medical insurance).
28 Ownership
The Company is owned by Ageas (UK) Limited (50.1%), a company registered in England and Wales, whose registered address is
Ageas House, Hampshire Corporate Park, Templars Way, Eastleigh, Hampshire, SO53 3YA and Tesco Personal Finance plc (49.9%), a
company registered in Scotland, whose registered address is 2 South Gyle Crescent, Edinburgh, EH12 9FQ. The ultimate holding
company of Ageas (UK) Limited is ageas SA/NV incorporated in Belgium. The ultimate holding company of Tesco Personal Finance
plc is Tesco plc incorporated in England and Wales.
29 Subsequent events
The Company has considered risks associated with covid-19.
In the early part of 2020 the outbreak of the coronavirus in China quickly gained worldwide attention. On 11th March 2020 the World
Health Organisation declared a global pandemic for this disease.
In February 2020 TU convened a COVID-19 Core Response team from across the business which reports into the TU Executive
Committee twice weekly. The situation has developed rapidly and at the time of writing TU has implemented Crisis Management with
daily calls and strong focus through the Crisis Management Team. Following Boris Johnson’s announcement on 23rd March, TU has
closed its Reigate office whilst maintaining attendance of a proportion of the staff in the Claim operation in Newcastle in order to
maintain claims handling which cannot be undertaken remotely. However, staffing is commensurate with the reduced volumes of calls
being received which at this point are about 60% less than plan.
At the same time a series of update communications have commenced to staff across TU. The safety and wellbeing of TU staff is the
primary focus alongside ensuring that business systems and processes can continue to serve customers through this period.
Strong co-operation continues between TU, TB and Ageas with TU liaison on the TB and Ageas Crisis Management teams.
The key areas of focus for the TU
▪ Understanding the dynamic changing advice from the UK Government and Public Health England;
▪ The alignment to decisions and approach to responses and communications across Tesco Bank and Ageas UK;
▪ The issue of regular communications to colleagues across the business with advice and guidance as the situation develops;
▪ The assessment of TU’s operational resilience and specifically the operational response required to a series of scenarios; and
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29 Subsequent events (continued
▪ The assessment of the operational resilience of TU’s suppliers and partners in the provision of services and support to customers. In
relation to this latter point many repairers and suppliers are shutting their operations as a response to government announcements.
As the situation develops TU will continue to monitor the position and take appropriate action through its Crisis Management Team
taking contingency actions to protect colleagues whilst continuing to serve customers.
The negative financial impacts of the coronavirus outbreak on the robustness of TU’s financial position are currently assessed as
limited, but this will be kept under review as the situation develops. A key area of focus is the investment portfolio (£648.7m at
December 2019). TU primarily invests in rated Corporate Bonds which typically rise in value during periods of economic uncertainty
and in the period to late March 2020 although the value of the portfolio has fluctuated, unrealised losses have been limited in relation
to the size of the portfolio. Wider impacts such as a drop in loss ratios, as well as policy volumes are being assessed as part of a
broader financial assessment.

The directors consider that the financial impact of the COVID-19 virus on the UK economy and the company cannot currently be
estimated with any degree of certainty. In assessing the potential impact on the company, the directors have prepared various financial
projections of impacts including reduced claims costs, investment value variability, operating expenses and premium income on the
basis of a UK shutdown lasting around 3 months with a return to normal trading over the following 3 to 6 months and taking account
of anticipated management actions and UK government support. On the basis of these projections, the directors have concluded that it
is appropriate to prepare the accounts on a going concern basis and to disclose COVID-19 as a non-adjusting subsequent event.
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